Understanding Writing Expectations and Self-Efficacy in the Cooperative Extension Service

by

Clare Elizabeth Hancock

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama May 4, 2024

Keywords: agriculture, competencies, written communication, Alabama Cooperative Extension System, agricultural education, agricultural communication

Copyright 2024 by Clare Hancock

Approved by:

Dr. Jason McKibben, Chair, Assistant Professor of Agriscience Education Dr. Christopher Clemons, Associate Professor of Agriscience Education Dr. James Lindner, Alumni Professor of Agriscience Education Dr. David Chapman, Jr., Faculty in Agriscience Education Dr. Adam Cletzer, Professor of Practice, Agricultural Communications and Leadership

Abstract

Communication, specifically written communication, is typically identified as a top competency for Extension agents (Benge et al., 2011; Cooper et al., 2001; Harder & Narine, 2019). However, the competencies within written communication have not been explored or clarified within these studies. As such, this study aims to better define what specific writing competencies are necessary to be an effective writer as an Extension agent, determine what specific types of writing exist in Extension, and assess the writing self-efficacy of Extension agents in Alabama (Bandura, 1997). This study consists of two parts: the first part uses a Delphi method, and the second part uses a quantitative survey method. In the Delphi panel, State Extension directors and other Extension leadership identified seven genres of writing in Extension and the necessary competencies within them. These experts considered each form of writing separately and showed that they considered the contextual differences between each and changed their expectations in response (Flower, 1994). In the second part of the study, Extension agents were asked to consider which genres of writing they engage in; participating agents reported that they engage in several forms of writing. Internal communications and social media were among the highest reported genres of writing that agents produce content for. Extension agents in Alabama also assessed themselves and shared their perceived effectiveness in each relevant writing genre and the competencies within that genre. Agents perceive themselves to be very effective in their writing within every genre of writing that was identified. Social media was reported as a form of writing that the majority of agents engage in, and it was also the writing genre that received the lowest average of effectiveness. Alabama Extension agents might benefit from more training that focuses specifically on writing for social media.

ii

Acknowledgements

Garrett Hancock, you are my partner, my best friend, my hype man, and my voice of reason. Thank you for your positivity and patience; you gently talked me off of many cliffs this entire process (thank you for making me put my dissertation materials on OneDrive). Evee and I are so happy to live life with you!

To my committee chair, Dr. McKibben, thank you for your willingness to work with me and try new things. You helped me see that there are opportunities to research writing in agriculture, and I'm grateful for your encouragement and support. Rock on!

To my committee members and other mentors and contributors in this process: Dr. Clemons, Dr. Lindner, Dr. Chapman, Dr. Cletzer, and Dr. Barlow, thank you for joining me in this endeavor and providing needed guidance and feedback on my work! Thank you as well to the state Extension directors and Alabama Extension agents who participated in my studies and provided insight on writing in Extension.

Dr. Moore, thank you for agreeing to mentor me these past few years; you have been so incredibly uplifting and offered unwavering support to me from day one. I still want to work in the same department, or even college, as you someday! We'll make it happen.

To my parents, in-laws, and grandparents: Thank you for your cheers and your belief in Garrett and me. Your encouragement is absolutely a huge part of what got us through our crazy idea to move to Alabama, get our doctorates, AND have a baby!

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Tables
List of Abbreviationsx
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
Writing Skill Levels in the U.S
Writing and Writers in Agriculture6
Cooperative Extension Service (Extension)7
Statement of the Problem7
Purpose and Objectives12
Significance of Study12
Limitations13
Assumptions14
Definition of Terms14
Summary15
CHAPTER II: LIT REVIEW16
Agricultural Education16
Agricultural Communication18
History of Agricultural Communication18
Agricultural Communication Graduate Skills Needed20
Previous Writing Studies in Agricultural Communication23
Writing and Literacy in Agriscience

Technical and Scientific Writing	26
Connection between Literacy and Writing	27
Agricultural Literacy	29
Land-grant Institutions and the Cooperative Extension Service	
Extension Competencies	
Missing Definition for Communication	34
Emphasis on Science Communication	
Writing in Extension	
Types of Writing in Extension	
Summary	40
CHAPTER III: METHODS	42
Objective 1	42
Instrument Design	44
Population	45
Round 1	46
Round 2	46
Round 3	47
Objectives 2-4	48
Instrument Design	48
Population	49
Data Collection	49
Summary	50
CHAPTER IV: FINDINGS	51

Objective One	
Objective Two	76
Objective Three	
Objective Four	
Summary	
CHAPTER V: CONCLUSION & DISCUSSION	
Conclusion	
Objective One	
Objective Two	
Objective Three	94
Objective Four	
Implications	
Objective One	
Objective Two	
Objective Three	
Objective Four	
Recommendations	
For Research	
For Practitioners	
Summary	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
APPENDIX A	

APPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	
APPENDIX D	

List of Tables

Table 1 Characteristics of Delphi Experts 51
Table 2 Types of Writing that Agents Engage in
Table 3 Results of Expected Writing Competencies 54
Table 4 Round 2: Agreement of Social Media Competencies
Table 5 Round 2: Agreement of Program/Workshop Materials Competencies 57
Table 6 Round 2: Agreement of Newspapers/Online Article Competencies 58
Table 7 Round 2: Agreement of Guides/Manuals Competencies 59
Table 8 Round 2: Agreement of Technical Publication Competencies 60
Table 9 Round 2: Agreement of Journal Article Competencies 62
Table 10 Round 2: Agreement of Internal Communications Competencies 63
Table 11 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Social Media Competencies
Table 12 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Program/Workshop Material Competencies65
Table 13 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Newspaper/Online article Competencies
Table 14 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Guides/Manuals Competencies
Table 15 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Technical Publications Competencies
Table 16 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Journal Articles Competencies70
Table 17 Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Internal Communication Competencies71
Table 18 Round 3: Final Results of Expected Writing Competencies from Delphi Experts73
Table 19 Characteristics of Survey Participants
Table 20 Genres that Alabama Extension Agents Engage in
Table 21 Perceived Effectiveness in Social Media 77
Table 22 Perceived Effectiveness in Programs/Workshop Materials 78

Table 23 Perceived Effectiveness in Newspapers/Online Articles	79
Table 24 Perceived Effectiveness in Guides/Manuals	80
Table 25 Perceived Effectiveness in Technical Publications	81
Table 26 Perceived Effectiveness in Journal Articles	82
Table 27 Perceived Effectiveness in Internal Communications	83
Table 28 Average Effectiveness within Genres of Alabama Extension Agents	85

List of Abbreviations

AAAE	American Association for Agricultural Education
ACES	Alabama Cooperative Extension Service
AFNR	Agriculture, Forest, and Natural Resources
ALEC	Agricultural Leadership, Education, and Communications
ASRED	Association of Southern Region Extension Directors
MWSP	Media Writing Self-Perception
NCW	National Commission on Writing
NAEP	National Assessment of Educational Progress
SBAE	School-Based Agricultural Education

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

In 1975, *Newsweek* published an article that rattled its readership (Sheils). "Why Johnny Can't Write" detailed out what *Newsweek* considered to be the nationwide epidemic of poor writing performance and illiteracy of U.S. high school and college graduates. Sheils asserts, "if your children are attending college, the chances are that when they graduate they will be unable to write ordinary, expository English with any real degree of structure and lucidity," and ends the opening paragraph with: "Willy-nilly, the U.S. educational system is spawning a generation of illiterates" (p. 1). This article represents a snapshot of people who do not *understand* writing, much less writing instruction, and how they view writing as a whole rather than in context. Of course, the person who wrote the article knows "how to write," and the content of their own writing is valid in the sense that they are entitled to their own opinion, but there are several concepts presented that are problematic. For example, in an academic response to the article, appropriately titled "Why *Newsweek* Can't Tell Us Why Johnny Can't Write," Elgin (1976) lists out the truths and myths presented in the article.

For the most part, Elgin contends with and corrects what she asserts are misquotes or even made-up quotes from a contemporary philologist, Mario Pei, because Sheils centers their argument on the thought that some academicians believe that "colloquial, slangy, even illiterate" language activities are more important than writing, which Sheils says are a "secondary, unimportant activity" (p. 1). From that as a base, Sheils runs with the notion that educators are not concerned with what good writing looks like anymore, denying "students the opportunity to master standard English because their teachers refuse to teach it" (p. 3). The refusal that Sheils refers to here was in response to the acceptance of linguistic diversity in the school system,

which recognizes that while Standard English is good to have for contexts that need it, it should not serve as the measure of what "good" writing is. Elgin provides a more research-backed approach to what good writing means, emphasizing that there are many different types of writing and forms of language that "make more sense" or are recognized as accepted or just simply work better in certain sociocultural contexts. She also contends with the use of "good" as a qualifier, stating, "you cannot make *moral* judgements about the way people talk and write" (p. 31). Elgin ends her article with a grievance that there was no way to fully explain everything wrong with Sheils (1975) article, making note that five other articles would need to be published in order to fully explain and define all of the concepts, theories, and studies that were misrepresented in the original text.

To be clear, this dissertation aims to use both aforementioned articles as representations of miscommunication and misunderstanding between the general public and academic schools of thought towards writing, writing instruction, and more specifically, the more specifically writing in the context of communicating agriculture. This disagreement and conversation about what constitutes as acceptable or contextual writing and how to measure it lends itself to a more indepth discussion about how writing is perceived. Sheils (1975) news article serves as an early marker for mass media thoughts about writing skills; this "Johnny Can't Write" mentality is still present in media news outlets today, and fingers are pointed in many directions.

In 2017, Goldstein (2017) wrote an article for the *New York Times* titled, "Why Kids Can't Write," which laments how the 2010 implementation of Common Core Standards (with emphasis on writing) did not help with writing skill performance levels. She attributes part of the problem to English teachers' education, stating that poor writing instruction training and lack of proper preparation was the cause. She also laments the use of process writing, an approach to

writing that utilizes free-writing activities and focuses less on the mechanical aspects of writing such as grammar, naming this approach to writing as a possible reason as well. Ultimately, Goldstein calls for a return to traditional grammar instruction and better teacher training, resting on the assumption that mechanics and fundamentals will solve the writing problem. While there is no known direct academic response to this pop press article, process writing is recognized as a technique that can increase writing confidence and self-efficacy, particularly with English Language Learners (Alharthi, 2021; Bulut, 2017; Park, 2020). As such, Goldstein (2017) offers the public perspective that "good" writing consists of less process writing and is reached through the correct use of grammar; this perspective is consistent with other online articles and opinion posts (Rotherham, 2016; Wexler, 2015).

Writing Skill Levels in the U.S.

In 2003, the National Commission on Writing (NCW) asserted that there needed to be a "writing revolution" through the reworking of education standards and writing policies. They noted that writing is becoming one of the risks in American education, claiming that "basic writing itself is not the issue; the problem is that most students cannot write with the skill expected of them today" (p. 16). They argued that primary, secondary, and post-secondary writing instructors should focus on more writing time, appropriate assessments, and better use of learning technology in order for students to leave the classroom with appropriate skills to utilize in the workforce. The NCW refer to the results of the 1998 National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) to justify their argument; the test revealed that only 27% of 8th graders and 22% of 12th graders can write past the "basic" level. The assessment scores students at a basic, proficient, or advanced; basic is "partial mastery of prerequisite knowledge and skills that are fundamental for proficient work at each grade"; proficient is "competency over…subject-matter"

knowledge, application of such knowledge to real-world situations, and analytical skills appropriate to the subject matter"; and advanced is "superior performance" (National Assessment Governing Board, 2010, p. 13).

The NAEP issued the results of their latest writing assessment in 2011; they found that 80% of students in 8th and 12th grade scored at or above the "basic" level, with 27 % of students from both grades scoring at the "proficient" level. NAEP assessed students again in 2017, but the report for that assessment has not been released due to scores being potentially affected by a switch in modes for the assessment (Wexler, 2015). As such, there has not been a recent study produced by the NAEP otherwise, and it seems as though there will not be another national writing assessment until 2030, even though other subjects, such as reading, are assessed every two years (Wexler, 2015).

The results from the 2022 SAT illuminate a bit more; students averaged 529 out of 800 in the evidence-based reading and writing section (National Center for Education Statistics, 2023). College Board clarify the context for this average by providing the benchmark values on their website. They state that anywhere between 480-800 meets or exceeds the benchmark and that students who score within that range have a "75% chance of earning at least a C in first-semester, credit-bearing college courses in history, literature, social sciences, or writing classes" (College Board, n.d.). There used to be an optional SAT Essay in addition to the SAT, but this was discontinued in 2021 in an effort to make the test more streamlined, and they claim that the reading and writing multiple-choice portion of the test can measure writing skills. While the SAT is more focused on college-readiness rather than workforce preparedness, it still offers insight on how high schoolers are faring in their writing skills before graduation.

Through these national assessments, it can be concluded that the majority of school-age Americans can at least write at the basic level, but more businesses would prefer their applicants and employees to perform at a higher level (Hickman & Stoica, 2023; Kleckner & Butz, 2020; NAEP, 2004; Schartel Dunn & Lane, 2019). Writing is a fundamental way to communicate; an employee's writing ability will heavily affect how they convey information and meaning and whether the reader will understand what they are saying (Doheny, 2020). In a research report, Deane et al. (2008) asserted "A skilled writer can confront a staggering hierarchy of problems, including how to generate and organize task-relevant ideas; phrase grammatically correct sentences that flow; use correct punctuation and spelling; and tailor ideas, tone, and wording to the desired audience" (p. 3). The highest attribute that employers seek on a candidate's resume is written communication skills (National Association of Colleges and Employers, 2019). A study in 2006 found that employers separately rated high school graduates and two- and four-year college graduates as "deficient" in written communications (The Conference Board). Kleckner and Marshall (2023) determined that 34% of the employers surveyed were dissatisfied with their employee's ability to write clearly and precisely.

While it seems as though most Americans' writing skills are not dismally low, most employees are not performing at the level that is expected of them (Hart Research Associates, 2013; Stevens, 2005). This underperformance could be due to their previous primary and secondary writing instruction (Kelly & Gaytan, 2020), which can sometimes result in a writing anxiety that can also affect performance and self-perceptions (Daly & Miller, 1975; Busse et al. 2023). With the state of writing skills in America, coupled with occasional doomsday articles produced by mass media outlets, this "Johnny Can't Write" mentality may have pervaded itself into the subconscious of employees whose job includes writing tasks. Employers may be calling for better writing skills in their industries, but "better" or "effective" may have different definitions in different contexts, particularly in different industries.

Writing and Writers in an Agriculture

Writing is, in many ways, implicit or even rote. One may not notice when they are employing the use of writing to communicate thoughts, such as through instant messaging, emails, or social media. Even though they engage in writing every day, people may not consider themselves to be writers. When asked, would agricultural scientists or even agricultural engineers consider themselves writers? Would most agricultural communicators consider themselves writers? Perhaps they would, perhaps not. Yet, there are several types of writing produced in agricultural contexts, such as informational bulletins, research reports, grants, academic articles, press releases, and advertisements, among others (Adams et al., 2005; Duke, 2020). In addition to that, writing is a skill that is needed in the agricultural industry by more than just whose role is to communicate (Chaikovska, 2023; Erickson et al., 2018).

As a result of their review and evaluation of writing theories, Leggette et al. (2015) noted that "writing has not been investigated in all contexts related to agriculture" (p. 13). More specifically, they concluded that writing theories needed to be incorporated into further writing research within agricultural communications, encouraging a more grounded examination of "the relationship between text production and cognitive processes" (p. 13). As such, this study is motivated by the desire to better understand how agricultural professionals, such as those employed by the Cooperative Extension Service, view writing as a part of their job, whether parts of writing are more important than the other. Understanding expectations and how importance is viewed will illuminate another use of writing within agriculture, providing an avenue for more informed professional development and day-to-day performance.

Cooperative Extension Service (Extension)

Extension practitioners contribute to a nationwide endeavor: increased education and communication about agriculture, primarily through the translation of current agricultural research (National Institute of Food and Agriculture, n.d.). The endeavor is worthwhile, as farmers are in need of new improvements and knowledge to respond to agricultural challenges, and the general public is mostly removed from agriculture, despite being directly or indirectly impacted by it (Rotz & Fraser, 2015). The translation of scientific information can happen through various communication channels, such as website content, social media, newspapers, radios, television, and conversations (Carroll et al., 2022; Lamm et al., 2016). Extension's primary audience was originally farmers, and Extension personnel sought to deliver new agricultural knowledge and improvements to farmers to be considered for implementation (Edge et al., 2017). However, Extension experienced a shift in audience to include the general public as well; this occurred in response to several factors, like agricultural issues affecting the general public, increased consumer interest in agricultural production, fluctuating perspectives towards the agricultural industry (Dale et al., 2017; McLeod-Morin et al., 2020). As a result, Extension broadened their audience to both agriculturalists and non-agriculturalists in order to fully engage with their mission and help both audiences make informed decisions (Fox et al., 2017).

Statement of the Problem

"Strong interpersonal communication skills" or "effective communicator" can typically be found in job position announcements for Extension agents. In fact, several competency studies within Extension have found that communication, and more specifically, written communication skills, are top competencies necessary to be an effective Extension agent (Benge et al., 2011; Conner et al., 2013; Cooper et al., 2001; Elliott-Engel et al., 2021; Harder & Narine,

2019; Stone & Coppernoll, 2004). Understandably, these studies were seeking "big picture" competencies to report and do not necessarily have the room or the parameters to also explore the smaller skills that make up the bigger competencies. However, in order to better understand these competencies, create professional development geared towards them, or implement new models/techniques, they need to be better understood and broken down. For instance, there have been more specialized competency studies on leadership (Harder & Narine, 2019), intercultural competence (Diaz et al., 2023), and social marketing (Warner et al., 2016). As of 2023, I found no competency studies that describe the skills needed to excel in written communication within the Extension context, which provokes the following questions: do Extension agents know and understand the writing competency expectations for their profession? How often do agents write? What types of writing do Extension agents engage in, and do they feel confident in their writing skills? What professional developments or training are needed, and should they be intentionally structured for early-career agents, specialization-specific areas, specialists and agents combined or separate, etc.?

Without clarification, those entering the Extension workforce may have unrealistic or uninformed expectations of what types of writing they will produce, in addition to what level of writing performance is expected of them on a daily or weekly basis. Furthermore, if an Extension professional does not consider themselves to be a particularly strong or effective writer, coupled with the demand or expectation to write, their writing self-efficacy or confidence could suffer.

If it is expected of Extension professions to possess particular writing competencies, but there is not a shared understanding of what those writing competencies are, then the miscommunication can contribute to ineffective writing, counterintuitive practices, and perceived low performance. Instead, if expectations on writing competencies are made clear, then

Extension professionals can self-examine their own skills and assess their own performance. Additionally, it is helpful for Extension leadership to see if there is a shared understanding between themselves and their employees so that they can make better sense of employee writing performance and suggest more specialized professional development to target specific writing competencies.

Theoretical Framework

This study is guided by Bandura's (1986) social cognitive and (1997) self-efficacy theories and Flower's (1994) social cognitive theory of writing. All three theories provide an understanding of how humans can shape their own perceptions of themselves and how they perform, in addition to how outside forces or an environment can affect that perception and performance.

Bandura's (1986) Social Cognitive & (1997) Self-Efficacy Theories

Social cognitive theory posits that learning can happen through many influencing factors, such as personal, behavioral, and environmental (Bandura, 1986). Bandura argues that humans are active, cognitive agents in their environment and learn from interacting, observing, and imitating rather than just passively doing. In this way, humans learn socially and gain knowledge in social contexts as well. A component that exists as a link between these personal, behavioral, and environmental forces is self-efficacy, or one's belief in their ability to do something effectively or complete an action (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy can be heavily influenced by self-beliefs or beliefs in how people perceive themselves. For example, someone may be skilled in writing, but if they do not consider themselves to be skilled, then their completion of tasks and overall effectiveness can be affected. In that case, even though self-doubts affect performance, they still do not affect capability. As a result, Bandura (1997) notes that for someone to be

effective in a task, they need to have both a solid efficacy belief and skills to be able to perform well. Bandura's (1986) social cognitive and (1997) self-efficacy theories have been used to frame multiple studies conducted in agricultural education; these studies have particularly focused on the self-efficacy of teachers (Sheehan & Moore, 2019; Barry & Easterly, 2021) and undergraduate students (Granberry et al., 2022; McKibben et al., 2023).

There is an organizational functioning facet of the self-efficacy theory which proposes that personal conceptions of an occupation, particularly regarding a skill, can be correctly or incorrectly based and therefore affect how a person approaches that occupation. Bandura (1997) states that "assessment of efficacy for basic skill domains provides useful information for career guidance and training" (p. 424). In other words, assessing the self-efficacy of employees can lead to better informed administrators and more specialized skill training with master-oriented instruction; knowing the self-efficacies of Extension agents can help in building programs that focus on cognitive-restructuring to help bolster agents' self-efficacy. The data collected from this study will hopefully be useful for Extension administrators and professional development facilitators to determine what future training on written communication should focus on. *Flower's (1994) Social Cognitive Theory of Writing*

The social cognitive theory of writing (Flower, 1994) is one of the main recognized theories of writing (Leggette et al., 2015). The theory suggests that when writers perform literate acts (such as writing), they write a text influenced by internal and external factors (Flower, 1994). In this theory, the writer may compose a text a certain way due to contextual, situational reasons or according to established conventions like genres—socially-constructed parameters. However, the writer also takes into account their own beliefs, knowledge, and context and then processes these elements too when they construct and communicate meaning through writing.

Flowers particularly argued for "negotiated meaning" from writers, pushing back on the theory that writers have no real control in discourses that have been in conversation for decades. Instead, she asserts that writers are agents who can learn from determining and analyzing the social forces and attitudes that guide shared thoughts, internalizing these influences, reflecting on their own beliefs and desires, and finding a way to negotiate a new meaning. This negotiation produces a new constructed meaning that not only shows a self-awareness of conflict with previous thoughts but also provides new or reimagined information. Ultimately, in this theory, the writer no longer exists as a content mill or just a translator of information but as an active participant in the sharing of knowledge and construction of meaning.

Integration of Both Social Cognitive Theories

Extension agents are charged with being the intermediary or translator between agricultural research conducted at land-grant institutions and the public, which are comprised of both agriculturalists and non-agriculturalists. According to Flower's (1994) social cognitive theory of writing, agents who write should take into account the context in which they are writing, the previous discourse on the subject, the genre and its constraints or guidelines, the attitudes or feelings of their audience, and their own personal motivations and understanding.

While Bandura's works are not mentioned in Flower's research, this study asserts that self-efficacy and self-beliefs would fall under the category of a person's internal motivations and understanding. Within these frameworks, we suggest that Extension agents should not consider themselves to be simply translators and processors of information but active agents of change in the bigger discourse of agriculture and agricultural education. Similarly, Extension agents should take into account their various methods of written communication and seek to analyze the

sociocultural differences between each genre or type of writing that they engage in, as that will affect how they negotiate meaning and communicate knowledge to various audiences.

Purpose and Objectives

This study aims to better define what types of writing exist in Extension and what specific writing competencies are necessary to be an effective writer as an Extension agent. Insight into Extension agents' perceptions and efficacy regarding their writing will provide a foundation through which further writing efficacy studies can be conducted within Extension. This study will also inform Extension administrators what professional development training is needed regarding written communication.

The following objectives guided the study:

- Determine the writing competencies Extension directors consider necessary for Extension agents.
- 2. Determine the genres of writing in which Extension agents in Alabama participate.
- Describe how Alabama Extension agents' rank their perceived effectiveness of the writing competencies determined by Extension directors.
- 4. Evaluate perceived effectiveness to determine potential areas of need in agent training regarding written communication in Alabama.

Significance of Study

Previous studies on writing within Extension focus mainly on strategies for collaboration or techniques in reaching specific audiences, such as framing or using plain language (Gordon, 2003; Miller, 2001). The uniqueness of this study is that it looks at a list of the types of writing that Extension agents engage in. As such, this study can be considered foundational, as it provides a list of what writing competencies are considered necessary in Extension, and it can be a basis on which more studies regarding writing competencies or writing efficacy in Extension can be conducted. This study also contributes to the investigation of other types of writing within agriculture, which Leggette et al. (2015) noted was needed, and can be replicated in other agricultural industries as well. In addition, a writing theory (Flowers, 1994) is used to guide this study; the use of a writing theory within agricultural communication writing research has been recommended by previous studies (Banwart & Qu, 2023; Leggette et al., 2015).

As competency studies in Extension have mentioned written communication as a more important competency, establishing the more specific skills within writing is a natural step in determining how to help Extension employees reach this expected, more general competency (Elliott-Engel et al., 2021; Harder & Narine, 2019; Leggette et al., 2015; Stone et al., 2004). The results of this study provide a further understanding of what "written communication skills" entails, enriching previous competency studies and providing a more applicable understanding of writing expectations for Extension agents. Performance evaluations, professional developments, and even supervisor-employee conversations will benefit from a clearer understanding of what effective writing means in Extension.

Limitations

Only the southern state Extension directors were invited and participated in this study, so the data cannot be generalized to a national level. Extension agents in the state of Alabama participated in the second, descriptive part of the study, so the results of that portion cannot be generalized beyond Alabama Cooperative Extension Service (ACES). Extension agent emails were manually collected through the use of the ACES' online directory, but the information and emails listed there may not have been recently updated, which could have affected response rate, sample frame, and accuracy.

Assumptions

- State Extension directors are aware of what their Extension agents write within their professional responsibilities.
- State Extension directors' expectations of their employees are appropriate and relevant.
- Alabama Extension agents will be truthful about what competencies they consider themselves to be effective in.

Definition of Terms

Competency – Knowledge, skill, and ability combined that contribute to effectively perform a job or task (Cooper & Graham, 2010; Harder & Narine, 2019).

Extension professionals – All employees within Extension, including those who are in administration.

Extension agents – Regional or county-based agents; not Extension specialists or administrators.
Genre – Within writing, genres are identified categories of writing that house texts that share context, patterns, style, purpose, and other characteristics that overlap enough to be distinguishable from others (Kindenberg, 2021). However, what defines a genre changes as social contexts change, and genres can represent social circumstances (Bazerman, 2015).
Literacy – The ability to recognize and understand words, understand the context and purpose, and apply the meaning to one's own life (National Assessment of Adult Literacy, 2003).

Skill – Ability to complete a task or performance well (Leal et al., 2020).

Style – A form of writing that can change meaning and convey different interpretations based on the chosen form (Ray, 2015).

Readability – The level of ease in comprehending a text, usually dependent on the style of the writing, vocabulary used, and the prior knowledge of the reader (Klare, 1963).

Writer – Unless the writing profession is specified, this paper will refer to everyone who writes as a writer (as being a writer can be a role, even if it is not *the* role).

Summary

Writing is an important skill in the workplace, and writing is included in the competencies necessary to be an effective employee within the Cooperative Extension System. Using the framework of self-efficacy and social cognitive theories from Bandura (1986) and Flower (1994), this study seeks to determine the particular writing competencies necessary for Extension agents to be effective, the writing self-efficacy of Extension agents in Alabama, and what genres of writing Extension in which agents typically engage. To complete objective one, a Delphi study was conducted, which asked experts in Extension administration to share their expectations towards the writing competencies of their employees. To complete the remaining objectives, a survey was conducted towards Alabama Extension agents to determine how the agents view their own effectiveness in writing, leading to more informed professional development recommendations.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Agricultural Education

In this paper, the term "agricultural education" will be used as the umbrella term for the advancement in knowledge of agriculture—and will not be used to refer to any particular facet within it (i.e. school-based agricultural education). The distinctions between the types of agricultural education that are practiced today are necessary for the field, as they strengthen each subdiscipline individually and the discipline as a whole (Harder et al., 2021). Even though this study is based in and motivated by agricultural communication research, the findings in this study will contribute to agricultural education overall (Lindner et al., 2020).

Agricultural education has not always been so clearly defined as it is today. The need for advancements and more farmers in agriculture has been prevalent since early America; this need was met by various educational societies who conducted research and disseminated it amongst various audiences (True, 1929). The Morrill Act of 1862 resulted in land-grant institutions, who could provide the study of agriculture to their courses, allowing for the opportunity for a more formal education of agriculture (Barrick, 1989). Even then, there was discourse on whether only land-grant schools or other universities could participate in the preparation of agricultural educators (Herren & Hillison, 1996). In 1917, the Smith-Hughes Act established vocational agriculture as a recognizable term, and agriculture classes were set up in high schools as a result (Wirth, 1972). Along with all of these advancements, the Cooperative Extension System was also growing and becoming a recognized entity.

The Smith Lever Act of 1914 solidified the creation of Extension, with its purpose to provide "vital, practical information to agricultural producers, small business owners, consumers,

families, and young people" (National Institute of Food and Agriculture, n.d.). Extension acts as another branch of the land-grant institutions, with their mission to spread information of new advancements in agriculture to all audiences through non-formal education.

As of 2020, the American Association for Agricultural Education (AAAE) recognizes that there are four facets within agricultural education as a field: agricultural communications, agricultural leadership, extension education, and school-based agricultural education. These facets have not always been recognized, and there are still discussions on whether some should remain in agricultural education or become their own field (Harder et al., 2021). However, they have been recognized and referred to enough for university-level agricultural education programs to have ALEC departments (agricultural leadership, education, and communications), or some other form of it, to indicate almost all of these specializations.

Additionally, each facet contributes to agricultural education's research values: (1) advancing public knowledge of Agriculture, Forest, and Natural Resources (AFNR) systems; (2) enhancing environmental health; (3) ensuring diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging; (4) examining social dynamics in human and life sciences; (5) fostering healthy living; (6) implementing programming for international development initiatives; (7) increasing prosperity through innovation in AFNR systems; (8) nurturing positive youth development through AFNR systems, and (9) promoting personal responsibility and safety in AFNR systems (AAAE, 2023). While agricultural leadership and communications do not have the same established academic history as school-based agricultural education (SBAE) and Extension, they have always been there within them, with only recently having been officially recognized as their own focuses within the agricultural education discipline (Cartmell & Evans, 2013). Having agricultural

education defined by these four specializations strengthens the field entirely, allowing for more people to be engaged and educated in agriculture as the discipline advances (Harder et al., 2021).

Agricultural Communication

Agricultural communication is the "exchange of information about the agricultural and natural resources industries through effective and efficient media, such as newspapers, magazines, television, radio, and the web, to reach appropriate audiences" (Lundy et al., 2022, para 7). In other words, agricultural communication focuses on the two-way interaction between people who are sharing knowledge and learning about agriculture. While SBAE and Extension primarily use formal and nonformal education, agricultural communication uses informal education to interact with and engage people in agriculture (Mars & Ball, 2016). In informal learning, there can be objectives, but the learning most likely happens as an unforeseen result of an experience, discussion, or self-study in daily life (Knowles, 1950).

History of Agricultural Communication

Early agricultural communication was primarily oral (Lundy et al., 2022). Farmers discussed methods and practices with one another through conversation for the betterment of local agriculture (Boone et al., 2000). In the colonial period of America, some methods of agricultural communication were also through personal or professional documents, such as Hariot's report on local natural resources in Virginia (Hariot, 1588). His personal account of the food production, indigenous agricultural practices, and other ethnographic findings related to agriculture was re-printed and used as a way to inform British investors for continued funding and simultaneously encourage citizens to consider becoming a colonist in America (Hariot, 1588).

After America was established as a country, journals and newspapers became another widely-used medium of agricultural communication, such as *The Farmer's Almanac* and the *American Farmer*, which aided in sharing agricultural knowledge across larger regions of America (Lundy et al., 2022). While these agricultural texts would focus on sharing already established local or regional best practices in farming, they would also contain new agricultural research from experiment stations to be adopted by farmers as well (Lundy et al., 2022). National dissemination of information became easier as radio, television, and the Internet emerged as mediums of communication and systems of storing and sharing information, and the target audience of agricultural communication changed from just agriculturalists to non-agriculturalists as well (Irani & Doerfert, 2013).

As an academic discipline, agricultural communication started out officially under the term "agricultural journalism," existing in specialized courses or as a result of a combination of agriculture and journalism classes (Tucker et al., 2003). In their historical review, Cartmell & Evans (2013) found that the first established department of agricultural communication was in 1908 at the University of Wisconsin. In 1991, Doerfert and Cepica determined that there were 30 undergraduate agricultural communications programs in America. These programs have evolved over the decades, with several now offering minors and graduate degrees. In a national study on the characteristics of agricultural communication programs, Miller et al. (2015) discovered that there were 48 established undergraduate agricultural programs in America, with Texas Tech University, University of Florida, Oklahoma State University, and Texas A&M University as the top-ranked four agricultural communication programs. Every program who participated in Miller et al.'s study reported that they anticipated an increase in growth over the next five years,

indicating that many agricultural communication programs would continue to build their student size and gain more enrollments.

Agricultural Communication Graduate Skills Needed

Present-day agricultural communications programs, depending on the number of faculty and students, offer courses that cover written communication, graphic design, photography, public relations, marketing, professional materials for job applications, risk and crisis communications, and issues in agriculture (Cannon et al., 2016). Program courses have been built and modified in response to industry expectations and needs; over time, several studies have been published in agricultural communication research that examine the skills and competencies needed from agricultural communication graduates (Doerfert & Miller, 2006). For example, Morgan (2010) found that employers in agricultural communication preferred graduates who could perform many tasks within a communications project rather than one specialization, but specific competencies such as grammar, spelling, punctuation, and writing effectively were the most agreed-upon by employers.

In 2013, Morgan and Rucker conducted a Delphi study with an expert panel consisting of graduate students and faculty from multiple agricultural communications programs in the nation. Their survey for Round 1 consisted of several demographic questions and one open-ended question, "What competencies are needed for agricultural communication bachelor of science graduates?" (p. 5). Using the constant comparative method (Glaser & Strauss, 1967), they based the survey for Round 2 off of the 144 statements that were gathered from Round 1, asking participants to determine and indicate their level of agreement with each statement through a five-point Likert-type scale. Morgan and Rucker decided that statements with an agreement of 80% or higher would move on to Round 3; as a result, 98 statements continued to the Round 3

survey, which asked for further consensus. Ultimately, after Round 3, 79 statements were collected as a result of the Delphi, and the research team categorized the findings into competencies within core areas: Agriculture, Communication, and General Education. The competencies (and statements) with the highest consensus in each category were, respectively: development of personal skills (including writing and speaking correctly and clearly), reporting (organizing information clearly), and miscellaneous (ability to communicate in writing). According to the Delphi members in this study, writing was considered to be among the utmost important competencies for future agricultural communicators to have.

Wyss and Cletzer's study (2023) is the most recent published research on what skills are preferred by agricultural communications employers and practitioners. They conducted an explanatory sequential mixed methods study (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2017) which used four phases to combine quantitative and qualitative research questions and analysis to better understand the collected data as a whole. Their target population consisted of agricultural communication industry workers in Missouri; thus, while their findings cannot be extrapolated and applied to the entire nation, they do provide important regional insight into what agricultural communication practitioners are expecting from graduates. Wyss and Cletzer used a survey questionnaire to collect the quantitative data, which asked employers to rate the importance of 64 communication-related skills on a five-point Likert-type scale, compiled from previous studies. Writing skills were determined to be the top ranked skills in importance, specifically being able to "write clearly; organize facts into a coherent message; use proper punctuation; write concisely; grammar and spelling; and editing" (p. 9). After the survey, some of the respondents also participated in the qualitative part of the study, which was conducted through focus groups. As a result of the focus groups, the findings from the quantitative part were confirmed again,

especially in regards to writing, which was identified as a foundational skill. Other findings from this study added more context to the consensus on the importance of writing; practitioners noted that agricultural communication is a field with continuous advancements in technologies and media, making it difficult for higher education classes to keep up with the times and prepare graduates for the exact technologies or software they will use. Since the participants view writing as a foundational skill, especially one that will persist through this dynamic environment, they place high emphasis on it, along with the ability to adapt and learn as they move forward in their careers.

Corder & Irlbeck (2018) conducted a review of the existing literature from publications, conference materials, dissertations, and theses to determine the consensus from all research on what skills are expected from agricultural communication graduates. Among the 17 articles they found, with publication dates ranging from 1993 to 2014, the researchers found that writing was the most important skill among all of the literature collected. Leal et al. (2020) found that agricultural communication graduates, communication industry professionals, and agricultural communication faculty members identified "communicate in written form" and "clear & concise writing" as the top two most important technical skills in agricultural communication. These highlighted studies are consistent with other studies that identified necessary agricultural communication skills (Irlbeck & Akers, 2009; Sprecker & Rudd, 1998). Thus, a common thread among both agricultural communication faculty and professionals is the importance stressed on the ability to write. In other words, writing is a highly important and necessary skill to communicate agriculture effectively.

Previous Writing Studies in Agricultural Communication

Academic research within agricultural communication that specifically focuses on writing is relatively recent. Holli Leggette is a notable researcher in this field, due to multiple publications. Most of these writing studies conducted research in an agricultural communication classroom with post-secondary, U.S. based agricultural communication students as their target population (Ahrens et al., 2016; Banwart & Qu, 2023; Leggette et al., 2015; Leggette et al., 2024; Rockers & Rumble, 2023), non-agricultural communication students (Fischer & Meyers, 2017; Leggette & Homeyer, 2015), or a mix of both (Fischer et al., 2017; Lawson et al., 2021; Leggette et al., 2016; Cletzer et al., 2022). Other studies (Parrella et al., 2021; Ruth & Emmert, 2019) did not conduct research in an agricultural communication classroom; instead, the entire college of agriculture student body was surveyed about writing. Common themes within these nine writing studies are: self-perceptions of writing ability, writing apprehension, self-efficacy, and writing identity, with some that combined more than one focus. Writing apprehension is not within the scope of this study, and while it may be a sequential avenue for future research, this literature review will focus on the topics that are relevant to this research, such as self-efficacy and self-perceptions.

Lawson et al. (2021) measured writing apprehension in their study, but they also measured writing self-efficacy and writing self-perceptions. They focused specifically on media writing, and they surveyed students in an agricultural communications class at Texas Tech University that were agricultural communication majors and non-agricultural communication majors. They used the Media Writing Self-Perception Scale (MWSP) from Lingwall and Kuehn (2013) as their instrument to assess students' self-perceptions; they asked students to take the instrument and the beginning and end of the class to compare the scores. The MWSP instrument

consists of 50 Likert-type questions that ultimately gather insight on five areas of perception: elaborative/surface, reflective/revisionist, self-efficacy, writing apprehension, and social media/professional. As a part of the study, students were able to view the two scores from the assessment and reflect on it; they were then asked to answer four questions that surveyed what factors may have influenced the change in score, what their reaction was, what area of writing they find the most exciting, and what improvements could be made as a writer. The combination of quantitative with qualitative added a more well-rounded approach to the study, and it provided further insight into the mind of the writer and their process. Ultimately, the research team found that writing self-efficacy increased over the semester, and students named writing practice and writing feedback as positive influences in their overall confidence. Students also recognized mechanics and style as well as the writing process to be areas of improvement.

Parella et al. (2021) also used the MWSP scale in their study, which sought to determine the relationship between digital media use and media writing ability within agricultural communication students. Their survey was sent to all students in the college of agriculture at Texas A&M University, and of the 127 participants, 43 were graduate students. Along with the MWSP instrument, they also used the social networking time use scale to see if time spent on media impacted students' perceived writing abilities. As a result, they found that students' understanding of social media. Additionally, there was a positive correlation between time spent texting and students' writing self-efficacy, which shows that text messaging allows students to practice writing and gain more confidence in their writing overall.

Banwart and Qu's (2023) research objective was similar to Lawson et al.'s (2021), as they also sought to measure students' self-efficacy in writing and determine what factors, particularly

educator techniques, influence self-efficacy and confidence. However, instead of using the MWSP instrument, they designed a phenomenological qualitative study. Thirteen agricultural communication students were interviewed twice; they were asked questions about the types of writing they had experienced, how they perceive themselves as writers, and how their writing classes were instructed. Students were also asked to bring in examples of their writing and discuss their levels of self-efficacy associated with the writing samples. Their answers analyzed through the constant comparative method and coded through latent thematic analysis (Braun & Clark 2006), and seven themes were identified: writing performance; modeling and assignment expectations; social persuasion; physiological and emotional states; self-regulated writing strategies; types of writing; and types of courses. Upon analysis of the data, Banwart and Qu (2023) concluded that the students' self-efficacy was positively influenced by mastery experience (modeling after instructors or using rubrics), social persuasion (peer feedback), and selfregulated writing strategies (intentional habits and environment). This finding supports Bandura's (1997) self-efficacy theory, which emphasizes mastery experience as a factor that determines self-efficacy.

Leggette et al.'s (2015) study is a review of prominent theories of writing within an agricultural communication approach. It is the only study within agricultural communication, and agricultural education as a whole, that explores viable theoretical frameworks that could be used for writing research in agricultural communication. They found that the social cognitive theory of writing is the most "complete" theory because it incorporates both a sociocultural outlook and the writing process in its perspective. They noted that "few writing research studies or courses [in agricultural communications] are grounded in a writing theory," which is why this study has aimed to respond to Leggette et al.'s (2015) recommendation to use them in future

writing studies. The other nine writing studies do not use writing theories within their theoretical framework, even though several of them were published well after Leggette et al.'s (2015) article.

Writing and Literacy in Agriscience

Stofer and Newberry (2017) explored the conceptions and differing definitions of agriculture and science, suggesting that the divide between them could be closed through the shared term "agriscience," especially so that the public can better understand that agriculture is a scientific field. As such, the writing that occurs in agriscience is scientific and technical, which have their own definitions and specific contexts. For the purposes of this study, anyone who writes for the purpose of sharing or explaining information, whether they are primarily a scientist or a communicator, will be referred to as a writer—even if they do not or would not perceive themselves as one.

Technical and Scientific Writing

Hamlin (2016) defines technical as "refer[ring] to knowledge that is not widespread, that is more in the territory of experts and specialists" (p. 1). Thus, technical communication seeks to explain things that are specific to a field to others outside of the field, and it also particularly pays attention to the delivery of the information—even attempting to adapt to their readers' "needs, level of understanding, and background" (p. 2). Scientific writing is a subgenre within technical writing (Collins & Tuttle, 1979). Scientific writing can be written by scientists for scientists or laypeople, or it can be written by non-scientists whose job is to communicate it to laypeople (Marks, 1985). Lindsay (2011) notes that a "good" style for scientific writing is one that emphasizes "precise, clear, [and] brief" writing (p. 12).

Connection between Literacy and Writing

In 1978, Wales & Ashman attempted to answer the question, "What is technical style today?" by conducting a study that compared how agricultural station scientists view technical style in writing versus how professional communicators view it. Their populations consisted of station scientists, station editors, and journal editors, and each population was sent particular questions concerning factors influencing technical writing style, review protocols, and quality of manuscripts. The station scientists were also asked to rank themselves as technical writers. All participants were then asked to read two passages written by different scientists on the same topic and answer related questions on them (Kirkman, 1971). While both passages were about the same topic, they differed in phrasing and sentence length, with one being longer and the other shorter. Participants were asked which passage they preferred and which represented a better technical writing style. The shorter, simpler, and more direct passage was the most preferred and considered more appropriate for technical writing by both scientists and professional communicators. This passage also used more active verb phrases rather than passive, which is more typical in scientific writing (Banks, 2017). However, all respondents did consider the other passage's author to be more competent, linking the more dense, complex, and more jargon-filled text to a perception of competence in a subject. In a sense, the more specialized a text gets, the more the author is considered superior in intellect; in the context of technical writing, though, the more complex the writing, the less readable and understandable the text is—which goes directly against the whole point of technical writing.

When a text has readability, it has an "ease of understanding or comprehension due to the style of writing" (Klare, 1963). Since technical writing is a means of explaining something to someone, technical writing (including scientific writing, depending on the reader) must be

successful in readability, particularly if the recipient of the writing is a layperson. To make something "readable" is to be intentional with vocabulary, sentence structures, and definitions when writing; the writer must also know their audience's reading level in order to adjust their writing style (DuBay, 2004). Knowing literacy levels of a writer's readership is pivotally important for attaining readability of a text. Considering the average American can read at the 8th grade reading level, most texts should strive for higher readability (Center for Plain Language, 2017). Currently, most scientific texts do not strive for readability; instead, they leave the reader more confused, impacting not only their knowledge but perceptions towards science (Freeling et al., 2021).

However, literacy is not necessarily just about being able to read words. It specifically refers to the "ability to use printed and written information to function in society, to achieve one's goals, and to develop one's knowledge and potential," but in order to do this, one must have word-level reading skills (National Assessment of Adult Literacy, 2003). A technical writer cannot have any power over the reading levels of their readers, but they can utilize plain language techniques to help their readers better understand the content—and do something with it. Pinker (2014) offer an analogy for this in his *Sense of Style:* "a writer who explains technical terms can multiply her readership a thousandfold at the cost of a handful of characters, the literary equivalent of picking up hundred-dollar bills on the sidewalk" (p. 65). In other words, technical writers must make an effort to carefully craft their sentences specifically for their audience and not just hope that some of it will stick, and through that, they will be able to ensure that they are reaching a wider audience.

Writing in plain language can be difficult, even for people whose primary profession is to write. With that being the case, scientists or subject matter experts' difficulties with increasing

the readability of their texts are understandable—to a degree. Salita (2015) illuminates the frustration of scientists, emphasizing that specialized knowledge and academic training limits their perception of others' reading levels, potential knowledge gaps, and cultural perspectives. When asked to provide definitions or change their writing style to include more audiences, Salita argues that most scientists feel as though they are misrepresenting the content or data or losing accuracy to simplification. Some scientists and academics may prefer the "culture of exclusivity" (p. 184) and do not share the sentiment that the public needs to know all of the research that scientists are conducting. Keuhne and Olden (2015) argue that scientists can and should prioritize lay summaries of their research, especially with the increasing use of the internet as a main source of information by laypeople, creating a more streamlined system where not only laypeople but communicators and decision makers can refer to research-backed information. *Agricultural Literacy*

The National Research Council (1988) define agricultural literacy as having "an understanding of the food and fiber system" and knowing agriculture's "history and its current economic, social, and environmental significance to all Americans" (p. 1). However, there is a difference between being agriculturally literate and agricultural literacy; Clemons et al. (2018) note the difference as "attainment and possession of knowledge (literacy)" and "an individual's ability to write, read, and communicate (being literate)" about agriculture (p. 239). In their study, they found that agricultural professionals may not recognize this difference, which could impact how agriculture is communicated to the public. Having knowledge about agriculture and being able to communicate about it have become progressively important skills for our society, especially as the world population grows and agricultural production increases to combat food scarcity (Dale et al., 2017; Rotz & Fraser, 2015). Beyond the global food crisis, other agricultural

issues such as genetically engineered food, animal diseases, sustainability, and water conservation affect the general public and American economy as a whole, further emphasizing the need to increase the agricultural literacy of non-agriculturalists (McLeod-Morin et al., 2020).

In the American Association for Agricultural Education (2023) research values, "advancing public knowledge of AFNR systems" is the first research value (p. 8), putting emphasis on agricultural literacy as a research priority. Kovar and Ball (2013) recorded how many studies in agricultural education focused on agricultural literacy since 1988, finding 49 published articles that either produced an agricultural literacy framework or guide, evaluated a program, or assessed agricultural literacy of a population. Several more studies on agricultural literacy have been published since then, showing that the discipline has been active in its involvement in agricultural literacy research (Brune et al., 2020; Sandlin & Perez, 2017; Vallera & Bodzin, 2016). However, there is a consensus among agricultural education researchers that the American public is agriculturally illiterate, calling for more program initiatives and curriculum development to combat it.

Agricultural scientists and professionals can and should contribute to increasing agricultural literacy (Lundy et al., 2006; McLeod-Morin et al., 2020; Ruth et al., 2021). Lundy et al. (2006) names the failure of scientists to communicate with the public as one of the reasons for low science literacy levels. They surveyed agricultural scientists from many disciplines, such as agronomy, animal science, and horticulture. Ultimately, they found that their participants felt a responsibility to help with agricultural literacy, and they suggested media training to help scientists better understand how to work with journalists to inform the public in a more effective way.

A more recent study (McLeod-Morin et al., 2020) surveyed agricultural research center directors at land-grant universities to determine their perceptions, goals, and beliefs toward science communication, particularly focusing on agriculture. Their research revealed that these directors recognized the need for better science communication with the public, particularly from scientists themselves; the directors also collectively considered science communication to be a service to the public. A heavy emphasis was put on more communication training for scientists, who are typically just trained to talk to other scientists. While the role of journalists was discussed as well, it was the participants' consensus that scientists were the best people to communicate science, as they would communicate it more accurately, thus showing that accuracy is highly valued. However, by the end of the study, McLeod-Morin et al. determined from the directors that a partnership between scientists and journalists was potentially the best situation to increase scientific communication.

Ruth et al. (2021) came to a similar conclusion in their study, where they interviewed scientists at the Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences at the University of Florida (a landgrant university) about their working relationship with journalists and reporters. The scientists were asked to report the frequency of their science communication as well as the quality of it; later, respondents were asked to participate in the qualitative part of the study, which involved interviews. Ruth et al. (2021) determined that agricultural scientists do have a fear of reporters misrepresenting information or providing inaccurate data, but scientists are also aware of the necessity of working with reporters as a means of communicating with the average media consumer.

Ultimately, in the fight for agricultural literacy, it seems as though scientists must become communicators or continue to work with communicators in order for the public to have

access to current scientific discoveries. However, in order for scientists to communicate directly, they must be aware of their audiences' reading levels and utilize plain language techniques to make their writing and the content more digestible for a layperson. General communicators may not have the subject knowledge, but they do know how to make things accessible to the average reader. As these previously addressed studies suggest, a working balance between scientists and communicators, or communicators training scientists, is a step in the right direction for agricultural literacy.

Land-grant Institutions and the Cooperative Extension Service

The establishment of the land-grant system and the universities within it was part of a larger effort to promote and teach vocational education. Jonathan Baldwin Turner, a professor and botanist, advocated for publicly-funded universities to teach industrial class citizens in every state on agricultural and mechanical subjects (Herren & Hillison, 1996). His actions, along with the efforts of Justin Morrill, a representative, created the Morrill Land-Grant Act of 1862. When it was passed, each state was provided land for a college that offered studies in agriculture. In 1887, the Hatch Act guaranteed more funding for agricultural research and established State Agricultural Experiment Stations to contribute to institutional research. In 1890, a second Morrill Act was signed in; as a result of that act, states had to either set up another land-grant college for people of color or their current land-grant universities needed to open up their admission to people of color (Barrick, 1989). Both Morill acts provided opportunities for people who would not otherwise have access to education, much less agricultural and mechanical education (Herren & Edwards, 2002).

The Cooperative Extension Service was established due to the Smith-Lever Act in 1914 as a way for institutional research to be translated and shared with farmers. Soon after, the

Smith-Hughes National Vocational Education Act of 1917 helped provide funding for the teaching of agriculture in secondary schools (Wirth, 1972). With that came the need for the training of vocational teachers at the college level as well. Much later, in 1994, thirty tribal colleges were recognized as part of the land-grant system under the Elementary and Secondary Reauthorization Act and were provided funding and access to Extension as well (Herren & Edwards, 2002). In alignment with the land-grant mission, Extension professionals are expected to not only have a basic knowledge of agricultural subjects, but they are also expected to be able to understand agricultural research and translate it to a lay audience (National Institute of Food and Agriculture, n.d.). They accomplish this through non-formal education by teaching workshops, leading programs, and creating guides or manuals to share (Strong et al., 2015; Torock, 2009). However, they can also educate and communicate informally by visiting farmers or discussing solutions for an agricultural issue with a stakeholder (Battel, 2005). It is important that a surrounding community can rely on relevant and current information for agricultural endeavors in their area, as inappropriate recommendations for their situation could result in a loss of produce or land.

Extension Competencies

Extension professionals are expected to perform many tasks in order to further the Extension mission, which is taking "knowledge gained through research and education and bringing it directly to the people to create positive changes" (National Institute of Food and Agriculture, n.d.). Extension professionals can be considered as liaisons between agricultural scientists and the general public. Harder et al. (2019) noted that Extension agents need to be able to "assess community needs; develop relationships and partnerships; provide and evaluate research-based educational programming; manage volunteers; serve on and lead countless

internal and external committees, task forces, and boards," and complete tasks in several other roles (p. 224). They must be subject-matter experts in addition to educators, communicators, and leaders. Not only do they need to be able to read and understand new research related to their subject area, but they must also be able to translate that research and information to both agriculturalists and non-agriculturalists, as well. On AgCareers.com (n.d.), it suggests that a bachelor's or master's degree in "a subject area or agriculture and extension education" is best for those wanting to become Extension agents, indicating an emphasis on either pursuing a particular agricultural-related major or an agricultural education major to prepare for the career. As such, it is possible that those who enter Extension are not fully prepared to fulfill all of their necessary tasks and roles (Ward et al., 2009).

On many levels, Extension routinely conducts internal needs assessments and program evaluations to determine the effectiveness of their programs (Terry & Osborne, 2015), perspectives and needs of their staff (Harder et al., 2009), organizational strengths (Lamm et al., 2021), and necessary competencies of agents to be successful (Benge et al., 2011). As a result of these assessments and evaluations, professional development is frequently offered to Extension staff to help supplement skills or implement new techniques in their daily work (Baughman et al., 2010). As technology advances, media landscapes change, policies affect stakeholders, and perceptions towards agriculture vary, Extension tries to be aware of the fluidic trends and needs of farmers and the public in order to provide timely and relevant information (Argabright et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2012; Beck & Cilley, 1994).

Missing Definition for Communication Competency

There are many competencies that have been identified as necessary for Extension professionals; according to several studies, there is a shared consensus that top competencies are: program management/development, communication, subject-matter expertise, and interpersonal skills, like leadership (Benge et al., 2011; Cooper et al., 2001; Elliott-Engel et al., 2021; Harder & Narine, 2019; Stone et al., 2004). Communication is consistently agreed upon as an important competency; this distinction makes sense, as agents are tasked with communicating agricultural research to the public. Nevertheless, even though communication has been highlighted as a competency, there is not any published consensus within these competency studies on the definition of communication or what subcategory skills are needed in communication, much less written communication.

For example, Cooper's (2001) study determined that an Extension agent's "ability to research and write" and "communication skills - (oral and written)," among others, were important competencies; these competencies were identified by county agents and supervisors. However, the study did not provide a further definition of what it meant to write or what writing entailed; however, it should be noted that defining each competency was not part of the original scope. As part of a Delphi study, Harder et al. (2010) found that "communication skills including speaking and writing skills" ranked as the fourth competency out of 19 core competencies that entry-level Extension agents should have (p. 48). Oral and written communication skills were not further defined, either. Similarly, in Benge et al.'s (2011) study, "communication skills" was determined to be third in the ranking of necessary pre-entry competencies, but no further explanation was given as to what it looks like or entails. A later study by Benge et al. (2020), which surveyed county Extension directors in Florida about professional development needs, also found that communication was a necessary skill for early-career agents. A survey participant particularly mentioned the need for "technical print and written communication training," but no other references to writing were mentioned by participants or the researchers themselves (p. 3).

Furthermore, even though Berven et al.'s (2020) study also determined that "communication skills" was an identified competency with nine skills categorized within it, those specific skills were actually not shared within the article, indicating that the general or competencies were more important to convey.

Emphasis on Science Communication (Outside of Writing)

Science communication is a topic within Extension scholarship, which is both consistent with Extension's mission to translate research to various audiences and the fact that communication is a recognized competency for Extension professionals. However, there is not a lot of research on how science should be communicated, at least on an academic level—an increasingly common theme. For instance, Crone (2011) emphasizes the need for more communication research in Extension and a clarification on what communication mastery looks like for Extension agents. While they only offer insight and tips for interviewing and decision making, they do reference their 2011 "Public Science Communication Research and Practice" series of publications by the Oregon Sea grant that Extension personnel can use. Within Crone's (2011) article and publication series, there is not a focus on writing or a guide specifying how to write scientifically within an Extension context; instead, editors and communicators are mentioned as resources after the writing phase. Robinson (2013) refers to Extension professionals as science communicators, which expresses an understanding that Extension professionals have a communicator role. They also suggest using framing theory to share scientific information; they do not, however, mention written communication as a medium for framing theory to be applied to specifically or refer to any other representations, like newspaper articles, online content, and other public-facing documents.

Notably, Sarathchandra & Maredia (2014) published an overview of their international short course on science communication training for agricultural stakeholders, which included Extension professionals. Within their course, they have one component on "writing science for the public: media story development," but the specific training within that segment was not shared within the article (p. 1). In their conclusion, they mention that "panel discussions are useful to identify where gaps exist (for instance, between scientists and journalists)," but this remark is not further explained (p. 3). Thus, while the topic of writing was included in this science communication course, not much is known about the contents of the lesson. These academic conversations about science communication within Extension illustrate that science communication is a goal and part of the Extension mission, but they do not thoroughly explore or explain writing's place in science communication within the Extension context.

Writing in Extension

Based on the previous studies that identified writing or written communication as a top competency, one can safely assume that Extension agents have to write. In 1993, Scanlon & Baxter conducted a study that asked recent college of agriculture graduates about their "on-thejob" writing; out of the 144 respondents, 22 identified as working in agricultural and Extension education. When asked how many hours they spend writing per week, the answers were spread out; out of the 22 in Extension, six reported 0-3 hours, six reported 4-7 hours, five reported 8-15 hours, and five reported 16+ hours. Thus, a majority (72%) of the Extension participants reported that they wrote for four or more hours during the week. Scanlon & Baxter also asked their participants how important it was that they had the ability to write in their role; 118 (82%) respondents answered that it was "important" or "very important." Similarly, when asked whether the ability to write was important to advance in their careers, the Extension participants

indicated that it was either "important" or "very important." While not generalizable, this study's findings do indicate that, at least more than 20 years ago, Extension agents spent a good portion of their time writing—even though it does not specify what they were writing or if they were effective.

More recent studies on writing within Extension show that agents are still writing, although these studies also do not focus on defining what writing looks like or what skills are needed for it. Several articles offer writing advice, but they focus specifically on scholarship activity, which is usually more of a requirement for Extension specialists and faculty rather than Extension agents. For example, Teuteberg et al. (2016) and Duke (2020) suggest co-writing publications with other Extension staff to strengthen materials and lessen the tax of writing on one individual. While Teuteberg et al. (2016) is more focused on helping Extension professionals gain promotion and tenure through publications, Duke (2020) generally refers to the written materials that Extension professionals produce. Duke (2020) does help illustrate that writing demands enough of an Extension agent's time to consider writing collaboratively with other agents. There are other articles that suggest ways to write scholarly articles (Bettis, 2012; Mills et al., 2016), but since these focus on those who have an academic appointment (i.e. Extension specialists), they will not be reviewed.

In another vein, Miller (2001) and Gordon (2003) suggest ways for Extension professionals to write materials or messages that will better reach their audience. Miller (2001) recommends 14 "quick tips" for Extension agents who are writing materials for readers with low literacy levels; tips such as simple writing, active voice, short words/sentences, and short summaries are suggested. In addition to that, Miller also suggests using the Fog Index, a readability formula, to test the readability of a document. Gordon (2003) takes a more conceptual

approach, offering suggestions on ways to write so that readers are more inclined to accept new, counterintuitive concepts instead of rejecting them. They specifically reference a writing tool called "transformative explanation," which asks writers to follow a five-step process to make sure that their writing is following a structure that slowly explains new concepts and disregards old ones. Miller (2001) and Gordon (2003) are the only publications found that make suggestions on ways for Extension agents to format their writing for an audience or to elicit a particular response from the reader.

Types of Writing in Extension

I have not found a published, recognized list that identifies the types of writing that Extension agents engage in. A list can be formed from various publications and studies, but there appears to be no singular study that attempts to collect and describe the types of writing that occur in Extension. For instance, Duke (2020) mentions that Extension agents write "fact sheets, technical pieces, and online content" (p. 1), while Gordon (2003) just mentions "messages" (p. 1). Adams et al. (2005) goes into a more extensive list, but it includes scholarly activity that not all Extension agents engage in. They mention books, grant proposals, curricula, bulletins, and educational manuals/guides, among other things that Extension professionals spend time writing. Beyond that, it can be concluded that Extension professionals write (or have written) content for social media (Beattie et al., 2019; Ferree, 2015; Nordby, 2014), newspapers (Ehret & Kiernan, 2008), and outreach (Tylczak et al., 2015) as well.

Carroll et al. (2022) conducted a study on how Extension audiences prefer to receive information, which provides a little more recent clarity on written communication. Out of the channels that communicate through writing, the internet, social media, newspapers, magazines were included. Among the most preferred were internet, social media, and newspapers, showing that these written forms of communication are still relevant and appropriate today. Carroll et al. noted that a limitation of their study was as new communication channels emerge, these findings can potentially become irrelevant. However, in the interest of this study, writing, as a means of communicating through most of these channels, has been mentioned (intentionally or implicitly) as a skill Extension agents need for many decades, bolstering the argument to the importance of writing skill development in the present day (Duke, 2020; Gordon, 2003; Johnson & Satish, 1992; Mills et al., 2016; Upchurch, 1969).

Even though scholarship does provide a general idea of what types of writing Extension agents engage in, there is a lack of established scholarship that intentionally seeks to describe what agents write. State Extension offices themselves may provide a better look into what agents do, but there are only a few publicly available materials on writing that were easily found, as others may require an Extension login and password (Tschetter & Freeman, 2019; University of Maryland Extension, n.d.). It may prove better to conduct another, more in-depth study that collects and categorizes materials on writing that state offices create for their agents so that a more well-rounded understanding can be formed on what is available and used by agents as resources for writing.

Summary

While national assessments have suggested that Americans can write at a basic level, studies have revealed a common assertion from past and current employers that writing was and will continue to be an incredibly important skill in the workplace. There are several types of writing present in the agricultural industry, and the nature of agriculture and science in general lends itself to a technical writing style, which is to explain concepts that people may not already understand. Since Extension's mission is to translate agricultural research to various audiences,

and this translation commonly happens through writing, Extension agents must be intentional with their writing style, taking into account their audience's literacy and their own content's readability. An expansion upon these studies and further investigation into what Extension writing is will provide a more tangible and measurable way to define what good written communication actually is. There is an opportunity to build upon previous competency-based Extension research and to focus attention on the written aspect of Extension communication.

CHAPTER III

METHODS

This study is quantitative, and it utilizes both a modified Delphi method and a quantitative survey method. The purpose of this study is to:

- Determine the writing competencies Extension directors consider necessary for Extension agents.
- 2. Determine the genres of writing in which Extension agents in Alabama participate.
- Describe how Alabama Extension agents' rank their perceived effectiveness of the writing competencies determined by Extension directors.
- 4. Evaluate perceived effectiveness to determine potential areas of need in agent training regarding written communication in Alabama.

Objective 1

It was decided that the first objective, creating competency statements, would be determined by experts in the field of Extension. In this case, the Delphi technique was chosen as the appropriate method because it provides a medium through which chosen experts can provide opinions and find consensus on a topic, the results of which can be used to build a knowledge base or foundation for further action (Buriak & Shinn, 1989). Originally, the Delphi technique was developed by Dalkey & Helmer (1963) within the RAND corporation as a way to collect "the most reliable consensus of opinion of a group of experts" (pp. 468). They did this through "a series of intensive questionaries interspersed with controlled opinion feedback" (pp. 468). In a contemporary Delphi study, members do not physically see or talk with one another; consensus and feedback is communicated only through survey responses (Yousuf, 2007). In a Delphi, experts are identified and invited to share their opinions towards a topic; once a panel has been

formed, the experts engage in multiple rounds or re-surveying that incrementally build from one another as consensus is formed (Buriak & Shinn, 1989).

The Delphi technique has been used regularly within agricultural education to form university programmatic research efforts (Buriak & Shinn,1989), reevaluate university program objectives and curriculum (Morgan & Rucker, 2013), establish discipline definitions (Clemons et al., 2018), and determine skills expected from employees or graduates (Albritton & Roberts, 2020; Wells et al., 2023). Specifically within Extension-based research, there have also been many Delphi studies conducted, usually focusing on competencies of Extension agents (Warner et al., 2016) and characteristics of a strong Extension office or program (Lamm et al., 2021; Terry & Osborne, 2015).

In this study, competencies were established from a group of experts, and those competency statements were then transferred into an assessment for county-based Extension agents in Alabama. This survey sought to evaluate the current attitude towards written communication competencies expected in their profession. Both parts of the study were assessed and approved by Auburn's Internal Review Board (IRB) before proceeding.

The purpose of the Delphi portion of this study was to establish competencies of writing expected of county Extension agents. Our Delphi consisted of three rounds; Delphi methods can typically have up to four rounds (Hsu & Sandford, 2007). Qualtrics was used to create and house the surveys that facilitated the rounds during the Delphi study. Round 1 was designed to illuminate the genres of writing that Extension agents engage in, rank the genres by importance, and then prompt experts to provide genre-specific competencies for each genre. Round 2 asked participants to look over all of the provided competencies in each genre and rate their level of agreement with each competency, using a 5-point Likert-type scale. Any competencies that were

less than 70% level of agreement were removed from the item list for that genre and did not move on to Round 3. Round 3 allowed for one more round of consensus and feedback on the established competencies, with any added competencies that were communicated in Round 2, asking again for a level of agreement with each identified competency in a particular genre. *Instrument Design*

The instruments for the Delphi were designed by the researcher and their chair. To help organize the instrument, it was determined that the experts would be asked to consider the writing competencies they expect in a particular genre, as different genres of writing engage different writing competencies. As a result, genres of writing within Extension were discussed, and genres to be included in the instrument were decided by the researcher: social media, program/workshop materials, newspaper/online articles, guides/manuals, journal articles, technical publications, and internal communications. These genres were established by a thorough review of the Alabama Cooperative Extension System's online website, where each of these materials were either accessible through archives or referenced in some way.

To test instrument validity and confirm genre selections and names, a pilot test of the Round 1 instrument was sent to a panel of ten experts within agricultural education and Extension outside of the sample population. The experts in this pilot study consisted of current and former Extension professionals, program heads, and faculty within the agricultural education, communications, and leadership field. Positive feedback with some suggestions for clearer wording was received from the pilot testing, and the initial invitation containing Round 1 was cleared by the research team to proceed.

Population

The Delphi method calls for a panel of experts, and our panel consisted of state Extension directors in the southern region. Extension directors are at the highest level within state Extension offices, and their values are expected to be aligned with the greater national mission of Extension. Several studies have chosen directors (state, regional, county) and included them in expert panels in order to determine professional development needs, desired characteristics, and necessary competencies of Extension agents (Benge et al., 2020; Elliott-Engel et al., 2021; Harder et al., 2010; Jones, 2022; Moore & Rudd, 2004).

The methods for Objective One were built on the assumption that state Extension directors would have expectations regarding the writing competencies that their county-based agents possess. The parameters were set to the southern region states of the United States to allow for more cohesive membership to the Delphi study and a more robust collection of data. Therefore, the Association of Southern Region Extension Directors (ASRED) was chosen to aid in identifying which state directors would be invited to participate in the study. The states and territories that are in this association are Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Puerto Rico, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, the Virgin Islands, and Virginia. Thus, fifteen directors were identified to invite to participate in the study. This number of experts was considered an appropriate initial number, as Delbecq et al. (1975) suggests 10-15 participants in a Delphi study.

Information about each director as well as their contact information are publicly listed on the ASRED directory; emails were collected and double-checked with online state Extension directories for potential inconsistencies and corrected if necessary.

Round 1

The fifteen state directors from Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Puerto Rico, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, the Virgin Islands, and Virginia were emailed an invitation to participate in the Delphi study. As part of the invitation, directors who chose to participate were prompted to indicate participation on the Qualtrics survey and complete round 1. In an effort to increase data validity and account for potential dropouts or unavailability of state directors, we asked the directors who completed round 1 to by provide the name and email of other administrators in their state that they thought would provide insight and value to the study. Thus, 15 additional experts were invited to the study during round 1, totaling 30 invites to the Delphi study overall. As a result, 20 experts accepted the invitations and completed round 1, with 13 states represented (Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia). The initial invitation was sent out fall 2023, and after 2 email reminders, round 1 closed. In the writing competencies section, 137 responses, with some containing multiple competencies in one response, were collected. These responses were checked for duplicates and clarity and translated into 67 competencies, with many genres sharing the same competency.

Round 2

Round 2's purpose was to present the submitted responses and prompt respondents to indicate their agreement or disagreement level with the importance of the writing competencies identified on a 5-point Likert-type scale (Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Neither Agree nor Disagree, Agree, and Strongly Agree). The instrument was still organized by genre, as the context of the genre could have an effect on the importance of the writing competency.

Participants were also asked to provide any other writing competencies that they would like to submit after seeing all of the responses. The same 20 experts who completed round 1 were invited to participate in round 2. However, during data collection for round 2, a member requested for someone else to take their place in the study due to leaving their position. As a result, two experts from that member's state Extension were asked to participate, and both said yes. The group size for the Delphi increased to 21 members. Two reminder emails were sent, and 14 Delphi members responded, with a 67% response rate.

When the responses were analyzed for consensus, the research team decided that any agreement below a 3.8 average would be removed from the list of competencies. Because of this parameter, two competencies were removed. Additionally, nine responses were collected that contained new suggested writing competencies. One of the nine was added to the list to be included in round 3, as the other eight suggestions were determined to be close or identical to existing competencies. Therefore, round 2 ended with 68 competencies.

Round 3

For round 3, respondents worked through the items by genre, and even though there were only 68 competencies, several genres shared competencies, resulting in 121 items. To combat survey fatigue, the research and their chair decided to show the members the average level of agreement for each competency from Round 2 in each genre and ask them if they agreed with that average with a yes or no for each competency to indicate their decision. If the respondent said yes, then they would proceed to the next competency. If the respondent said no, then another question was populated that asked them to re-evaluate and indicate their level of agreement on a Likert-type scale, like the one from round 2 (Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Neither Agree nor Disagree, Agree, and Strongly Agree).

Round 3 was sent out winter 2023, and the round closed in late winter after 2 reminders were sent. In the second reminder, participants were asked if they needed an extension to response deadline. Two requested an extension, and the round stayed open to make sure that those responses could be collected. Sixteen members participated in Round 3 out of the 21, with a 76% response rate.

Objectives 2-4

The competencies that resulted from Objective One were necessary to create the instrument for Alabama Extension agents. In order to determine how effective agents' felt about their writing competencies, the research team needed competencies to ask them about. After the Delphi panel was able to reach consensus on competencies by Round 3, the competencies were transferred into the instrument for the Alabama Extension agents.

Instrument Design

The instrument for the agents in Alabama was structured by the genres identified by the Delphi members so that agents could determine whether they engaged in that genre and, consequently, their competency effectiveness within their writing context. Agents were asked if they engaged in a particular genre of writing (social media, newspapers, etc.); agents who indicated they did not, the instrument asked about the next genre of writing. If the agent indicated that they do engage in that genre of writing, then the instrument populated the corresponding competencies identified by the Delphi panel, asking them to determine how effective they felt in that competency with a five-point Likert scale (not effective at all, slightly effective, moderately effective, very effective, and extremely effective). At the most, if an agent indicated that they engage in all seven of the genres, they would need to respond to 120 items of competencies; however, if they only engaged in a few genres, then the instrument would be

much shorter. We wanted to keep in mind the possibility that agents may not engage in all identified genres of writing, and especially give them the chance to opt out of genres that did not apply to them. The average effectiveness across multiple genres was calculated and evaluated in order to determine potential needs of agents regarding certain forms of writing.

Other questions that were presented to them were demographic and asked about their official Extension program that they are assigned to, which university system they affiliate with (1862 or 1890), and their highest completed level of education. Finally, the instrument ended with asking agents if there were any other types of writing that they do that were not included in the questions.

Population

The ACES website provides a public directory of its Extension personnel. The target population of objectives 2 and 3 included extension agents within the following program areas: Forestry, Wildlife & Natural Resources; Animal Sciences & Forages; Human Nutrition, Diet & Health; Home Grounds, Gardens & Home Pests; Commercial Horticulture; SNAP-Ed; Alabama 4-H; Food & Safety Quality; Financial Resource Management & Workforce Development; Farm & Agribusiness Management; Agronomic Crops; Aquatic Resources; Family & Child Development. While Alabama does have Extension specialists, this study does not include them as they have added research commitments in their role which may affect how they perceive importance and competency within writing. County Extension Coordinators were determined to be a separate population for this study, as well.

Data Collection

The instrument was sent out via Qualtrics to 93 Extension agents in Alabama. In an effort to be transparent and inclusive of leadership, we contacted assistant directors for field operations

(ADFOs), administrators that work directly with regional and county agents, and communicated the objectives of the study as well as the possible benefits and applications of the research collected. They requested a small blurb and the link to the survey so that they could include the information about the survey and link in their bulk communication emails to their agents. It is possible that the emails collected from ACES online directory are outdated, so the added support in awareness and reach from the ADFOs may have actually encouraged participation from agents who otherwise may not have been included in the original 93 (Dillman, 2007). As a result, the Qualtrics survey was sent to a combination of 138 Extension agents. Following Dillman's Tailored Design Method (2007), a pre-invite announcement, an invitation letter, and three reminders were sent to all with an appeal to action. This resulted in 47 respondents to the survey. Only finished surveys were considered for data analysis, and any answers that were accidentally or intentionally skipped are reflected in the tables for full context. Early to late responders were compared in an effort to mitigate response bias (Lindner, 2002; Lindner et al., 2001). It was determined that the differences were not significant and not a threat to external validity.

Summary

This study consists of two parts: the first part uses a Delphi method, and the second part uses a quantitative survey method. State Extension directors from the southern region of the U.S. were selected as the population for the Delphi, and they suggested other leaders and administrators in their state that would also be able to provide insight on writing expectations within Extension. Data collected from the Delphi were used to create the instrument for the second part of the study; regional and county Extension agents in Alabama were surveyed about the writing genres they engage in and their perceived effectiveness in each relevant competency. In both parts, data were analyzed using descriptive statistics.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Extension professionals engage in different types of writing in their daily tasks; this study seeks to determine what writing competencies are expected of county-based agents and if agents feel effective in these expected competencies. As such, the following objectives led our study:

- Determine the writing competencies Extension directors consider necessary for Extension agents.
- 2. Determine the genres of writing in which Extension agents in Alabama participate.
- Describe how Alabama Extension agents' rank their perceived effectiveness of the writing competencies determined by Extension directors.
- 4. Evaluate perceived effectiveness to determine potential areas of need in agent training regarding written communication in Alabama.

For objective one, the Delphi method was used have experts create a list of competencies. For objectives 2-4, we used a survey method that utilized the competencies from objective one to ask Extension agents about their perceived effectiveness. Thus, there are two parts to this study with two similar but different target populations.

Objective One: Determine the writing competencies Extension directors consider necessary for Extension agents.

Demographics

Fifteen Extension state and territory directors in the southeastern region were invited to participate in the Delphi study. As a result of directors' input, several other state or regional administrators were also invited to participate as a representative of their state (n = 6). In the first round, twenty-one participants represented a total of 13 southeastern states: Alabama, Arkansas,

Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia. Seven states had more than one person participate (Table 1). All participants indicated that they work for an 1862 land grant system, and the majority of participants had been employed in Extension for more than 20 years, with six participants (28.57%) employed for 21-25 years and seven participants (33.33%) employed for more than 25 years. Years employed indicates time spent in one or more positions within Extension as a whole, not the time spent in their current position.

Table 1

Variable	п	%
State		
Alabama	2	9.52
Arkansas	2	9.52
Florida	2	9.52
Georgia	3	14.29
Kentucky	1	4.76
Louisiana	2	9.52
Mississippi	1	4.76
North Carolina	1	4.76
Oklahoma	1	4.76
South Carolina	2	9.52
Tennessee	2	9.52
Texas	1	4.76
Virginia	1	4.76
Years employed in Extension		
0-5	3	14.29
6-10	1	4.76
11-15	1	4.76

Characteristics of Delphi Experts

More than 25	7	33.33
21-25	6	28.57
16-20	3	14.29

Note. N = 21

Round 1

In order to have Delphi experts determine and reflect on what writing competencies are expected within a certain type of writing, they were first asked to determine what genres of writing their agents engage in. They were given a list to choose from, and they were also given the opportunity to provide any genres or types of writing that were not already covered in the provided list. On the list, seven genres were provided: *social media, newspaper/online articles, program materials, internal communications, guides/manuals, technical publications,* and *journal articles* (Table 2). Three respondents suggested another genre, but the suggestions already fit under the category of *technical publications,* so nothing new was added to the list. There were two genres that every expert (100%, n = 21) indicated as a type of writing that their agents engage in, which were *social media* and *newspaper/online articles*. Very close to 100% agreement was *program materials* (n = 20, 95.24%) and *internal communications* (n = 19, 90.48%). The lowest recognized type of writing was journal articles (n = 13, 61.90%), but the research team decided to keep *journal articles* within the list because it did not exceed lower than 50% agreement. The threshold of agreement at 50% was set for the genres *a priori*.

Table 2

Genre	п	%
Social media	21	100.00
Newspaper/online articles	21	100.00
Program materials	20	95.24

Types of Writing that Agents Engage in

Internal communications	19	90.48
Guides/Manuals	17	80.95
Technical publications	16	76.19
Journal articles	13	61.90

Experts were then asked the same singular open-ended question for each of the seven genres: what competencies are needed for your county Extension agents to be successful in this type of writing? Duplicate competencies within genres were combined, resulting in 66 individual competencies. Experts identified 15 competencies in *social media*, *program/workshop* (17), *newspaper/online articles* (20), *guides/manuals* (19), *technical publications* (18), *journal articles* (19), and *internal communications* (15; Table 3). Ultimately, *newspaper/online articles* had the most writing competencies identified (n = 20), with *social media* and *internal communications* both having the least (n = 15). Several types of writing shared competencies.

Table 3Round 1: Results of Expected Writing Competencies

Social media $(f=15)$	Program/Workshop $(f=17)$	Newspaper articles $(f=20)$	Guides/Manuals $(f=20)$	Technical pub. $(f = 18)$	Journal articles $(f=19)$	Internal comm. (f = 15)
Identify and	Identify and	Deliver on level of	Write concisely.	Follow	Follow	Determine
understand target	understand	the reader.	2	organizational	organizational	appropriate
audience.	audience.		Follow	formatting	formatting	language and format
		Use plain language.	organizational	guidelines.	guidelines.	between
Identify relevance to	Develop engaging		formatting	C	c	communication
audience.	content.	Use appropriate writing style (AP,	guidelines.	Use technical language correctly.	Use technical language correctly.	methods (memo, text, email, etc.).
Select words that are	Write clearly.	APA, etc.).	Deliver on level of			
appropriate, modern,			the reader.	Write concisely.	Write concisely.	Utilize etiquette.
creative.	Write concisely.	Select action words.				
			Integrate and	Utilize and define	Use sources	Write concisely.
Adhere to	Be knowledgeable	Identify engaging	translate current	tables and graphs.	ethically.	
accessibility	in technical subject	topics.	research.			Identify and
requirements.	matter.			Identify and	Address a need or	understand
		Integrate and	Organize	understand text's	issue.	audience.
Use call to actions.	Determine that	translate current	information	audience.		
	information is	research.	logically and		Write clearly.	Write clearly.
Communicate with	accurate.		consistently.	Organize		
precision.		Write clearly.		information	Communicate	Determine if
	Deliver on level of		Use plain language.	logically and	purpose.	message is
Write concisely.	the reader.	Write concisely.		consistently.		necessary.
			Create meaningful		Communicate	
Define technical	Organize	Identify and	divisions within	Avoid jargon.	applicability of	Organize
terms.	instructions.	understand	text.		content.	information
		audience.		Respect copyright		logically and
Consider timeliness	Understand		Write with a	laws.	Respect copyright	consistently.
of information	grammar rules.	Remain objective.	technical point of		laws.	
shared.			view.	Proofread for errors.		Communicate
	Use correct spelling.	Determine that			Be knowledgeable	purpose.
Able to summarize.		information is	Write clearly.	Use inclusive	in subject matter.	
	Adhere to Extension	accurate.		language.		Adhere to Extension
Use correct spelling.	branding guidelines.		Determine that		Synthesize research.	branding guidelines.
		Use inclusive	information is	Use active voice.	T () ()	
Use correct	Integrate and	language.	accurate.		Identify and	Provide context.
punctuation.	translate current	TT 11			understand	
	research.	Use call to actions.			audience.	

Table 3 continued

Round 1 Results of Expected Writing Competencies

Social media	Program/Workshop	Newspaper articles	Guides/Manuals	Technical pub.	Journal articles	Internal comm.
(f = 15)	(f = 17)	(f = 20)	(<i>f</i> = 19)	(f = 18)	(<i>f</i> = 19)	(<i>f</i> = 15)
Apply marketing	Remain objective.	Communicate	Understand	Be aware of how	Use appropriate	Use appropriate
knowledge.		applicability of	grammar rules.	material will be	writing style (AP,	tone.
TT 1 . 1 1 .C	Use creativity to	content.	D 1 1 1 11	presented (digital,	APA, etc.).	
Understand platform	help visualize		Be knowledgeable	paper, etc.).		Able to revise work.
norms and culture.	complex ideas.	Consider timeliness	in technical subject	A 11 /	Able to write	
D . 1	D1.	of information	matter.	Adhere to peer	abstractly.	Consider timeliness
Be knowledgeable	Develop program	shared.	Define technical	review		of information
in technical subject	objectives and		Define technical	requirements.	Able to revise work.	shared.
matter.	match objectives to outcomes.	Check readability level of text.	terms.	Be knowledgeable	Proofread for errors.	Use compatent an alling
	outcomes.	level of text.	Identify and	in technical subject	Prooffead for errors.	Use correct spelling.
	Synthesize research.	Use appropriate	understand	matter.	Use appropriate	Understand
	Synthesize research.	paragraph and	audience.	matter.	tone.	grammar rules.
	Organize	sentence structure.	audience.	Use descriptive	tone.	grammar ruies.
	information	sentence structure.	Remain objective.	writing.	Understand	
	logically.	Determine objective	rtemani ööjeeti e.	witting.	grammar rules.	
	1081001191	of material.	Use correct spelling.	Pay attention to	8	
			1 8	cohesion and flow.	Use correct spelling.	
		Understand	Integrate visual		1 8	
		grammar rules.	examples.	Able to revise work.		
		Use correct spelling.	Use appropriate	Cite sources.		
		1 0	paragraph and			
		Use correct	sentence structure.			
		punctuation.				
		1	Determine objective			
			of material.			
			Use comest			
			Use correct punctuation.			
			punctuation.			

Round 2

Following Delphi methods (Hsu & Sandford, 2007; Buriak & Shinn, 1989), the competencies identified in Round 1 were provided to the expert panel in Round 2, and participants were asked to determine their level of agreement with the importance of a competency in that particular genre. Agreement was measured using a five-point, Likert-type scale; agreement was determined to be when experts rated an item either agreed (4.0) or strongly agreed (5.0). Any competencies that resulted in a percent level of agreement that was less than 70% were removed from the item list for that genre and did not move on to Round 3 (Warner et al., 2016). At the end of every genre's section of the instrument, participants were asked to consider if there were any other competencies that needed to be added to the genre's specific list of competencies.

Social Media. "Identify and understand target audience" (M = 4.86, SD = 0.35) tied with "use correct spelling" (M = 4.86, SD = 0.35) as the most commonly agreed upon competencies in *social media*, both with 100.00% agreement (Table 4). "Use call to actions" had the lowest agreement at a 71.43% and with a mean of 3.93 (SD = 0.70). No competencies were removed, but "deliver on level of the reader" was added this round to be later evaluated in Round 3, resulting in 16 recognized competencies in *social media*.

Competency	М	SD	% Agree ¹
Identify and understand target audience	4.86	0.35	100.00%
Use correct spelling	4.86	0.35	100.00%
Consider timeliness of information shared	4.71	0.45	100.00%
Communicate with precision	4.64	0.48	100.00%

Round 2: Agreement of Social Media Competencies (f = 16)

Use correct punctuation	4.64	0.48	100.00%
Identify relevance to audience	4.57	0.49	100.00%
Write concisely	4.50	0.63	92.86%
Adhere to accessibility requirements	4.43	0.82	92.86%
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.43	0.82	78.57%
Able to summarize	4.36	0.48	100.00%
Select words that are appropriate, modern, creative	4.29	0.45	100.00%
Apply marketing knowledge	4.00	0.65	78.57%
Understand platform norms and culture	4.00	0.65	78.57%
Use call to actions	3.93	0.70	71.43%
Define technical terms	3.92	0.62	76.92%
Deliver on level of the reader*	-	-	-

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree ¹ % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

*Added as a result of Round 2

Program/Workshop Materials. There were five competencies that resulted in 100.00% agreement: "determine that information is accurate" (M = 4.93, SD = 0.26), "identify and understand audience" (M = 4.79, SD = 0.41), "use correct spelling" (M = 4.79, SD = 0.41), "deliver on level of the reader" (M = 4.71, SD = 0.45), and "write clearly" (M = 4.57, SD = 0.49; Table 5). The lowest percent agreement was shared between "integrate and translate current research" (M = 4.43, SD = 0.73), and "synthesize research" (M = 4.21, SD = 0.67) with both at 85.71% agreement. No competencies were added or removed.

Round 2: Agreement of Program/Workshop Material Competencies (f = 17)

Competency	M	SD	% Agree ¹
Determine that information is accurate	4.93	0.26	100.00%
Identify and understand audience	4.79	0.41	100.00%

Use correct spelling	4.79	0.41	100.00%
Deliver on level of the reader	4.71	0.45	100.00%
Write clearly	4.57	0.49	100.00%
Remain objective	4.57	0.62	92.86%
Develop program objectives and match objectives to outcomes	4.57	0.49	100.00%
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	4.50	0.82	92.86%
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.43	0.62	92.86%
Integrate and translate current research	4.43	0.73	85.71%
Organize instructions	4.36	0.61	92.86%
Write concisely	4.29	0.45	100.00%
Understand grammar rules	4.29	0.45	100.00%
Organize information logically	4.29	0.45	100.00%
Develop engaging content	4.23	0.42	100.00%
Synthesize research	4.21	0.67	85.71%
Use creativity to help visualize complex ideas	4.14	0.52	92.86%

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree

 1 % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

Newspapers/Online Articles. 66.67% (f = 14) of the 21 identified competencies in this genre received 100.00% agreement (Table 6). "Use call to actions" received the lowest percent level of agreement at 75.00% (M = 3.83, SD = 0.55). No competencies were added or removed.

Round 2: Agreement of Newspapers/Online Article	<i>Competencies</i> $(f = 21)$
---	--------------------------------

Competency	М	SD	% Agree ¹
Remain objective	4.85	0.36	100.00%
Write clearly	4.77	0.42	100.00%
Use correct spelling	4.77	0.42	100.00%
Use correct punctuation	4.77	0.42	100.00%
Determine that information is accurate	4.69	0.46	100.00%

Deliver on level of the reader	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Use plain language	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Understand grammar rules	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Write concisely	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Identify and understand audience	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Communicate applicability of content	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Consider timeliness of information shared	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Identify engaging topics	4.38	0.62	92.31%
Integrate and translate current research	4.38	0.62	92.31%
Determine objective of material	4.38	0.49	100.00%
Use inclusive language	4.31	0.61	92.31%
Check readability level of text	4.23	0.58	92.31%
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	4.15	0.66	84.62%
Select action words	4.08	0.62	84.62%
Use call to actions	3.83	0.55	75.00%

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree

 1 % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

Guides/Manuals. Half (f = 10) of the competencies in this genre received 100.00%

agreement (Table 7). The lowest percent agreement was 76.92%, which was for the competency

"write with a technical point of view." No competencies were added or removed.

Round 2: Agreement of Guides/Manuals Competencies (f = 20)

Competency	M	SD	% Agree ¹
Write concisely	4.77	0.42	100.00%
Determine that information is accurate	4.77	0.42	100.00%
Write clearly	4.69	0.46	100.00%
Identify and understand audience	4.69	0.46	100.00%

Use correct spelling	4.69	0.46	100.00%
Use correct punctuation	4.69	0.46	100.00%
Understand grammar rules	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Deliver on level of the reader	4.46	0.63	92.31%
Organize information logically and consistently	4.46	0.50	100.00%
Define technical terms	4.46	0.63	92.31%
Remain objective	4.46	0.63	92.31%
Integrate visual examples	4.38	0.74	84.62%
Integrate and translate current research	4.31	0.91	84.62%
Use plain language	4.31	0.61	92.31%
Create meaningful divisions within text	4.31	0.61	92.31%
Determine objective of material	4.31	0.61	92.31%
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	4.23	0.80	92.31%
Write with a technical point of view	4.08	0.73	76.92%

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree

 1 % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

Technical Publications. Seven competencies (38.89%) resulted in 100.00% agreement, and the lowest % level of agreement was 66.67%, which was for "use active voice" (M = 3.75, SD = 0.60; Table 8). This one competency, "use active voice," had a % level of agreement that was less than 70%, and it was removed, resulting in 17 competencies being moved to Round 3 for *technical publications*. No competencies were added.

Round 2: Agreement of Technical Publication Competencies (f = 18)

Competency	М	SD	% Agree ¹
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	4.67	0.47	100.00%
Use technical language correctly	4.67	0.47	100.00%

Write concisely	4.58	0.49	100.00%
Utilize and define tables and graphs	4.33	0.75	83.33%
Identify and understand text's audience	4.67	0.47	100.00%
Organize information logically and consistently	4.58	0.49	100.00%
Avoid jargon	4.08	0.49	91.67%
Respect copyright laws	4.75	0.60	91.67%
Proofread for errors	4.92	0.28	100.00%
Use inclusive language	3.92	0.64	75.00%
Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.)	4.58	0.49	100.00%
Adhere to peer review requirements	4.33	0.75	83.33%
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.50	0.65	91.67%
Use descriptive writing	4.08	0.76	75.00%
Pay attention to cohesion and flow	4.17	0.55	91.67%
Able to revise work	4.25	0.60	91.67%
Cite sources	4.58	0.86	91.67%
Use active voice*	3.75	0.60	66.67%

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree

 1 % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

*Removed since the percent agreement was below 70%

Journal Articles. Five competencies resulted in 100.00% agreement: "use correct

spelling" (M = 4.67, SD = 0.47), "proofread for errors" (M = 4.58, SD = 0.49), "understand grammar rules" (M = 4.42, SD = 0.49), "communicate purpose" (M = 4.33, SD = 0.47), and "follow organizational formatting guidelines" (M = 4.25, SD = 0.43; Table 9). The competency "able to write abstractly" (M = 3.67, SD = 0.75) was removed as its percent level of agreement was below 70.00% (66.67%). As a result, 18 competencies moved on to Round 3 for *journal articles*. No competencies were added.

Table 9

Round 2: Agreement of Journal Article Competencies (f = 19)

Competency	М	SD	% Agree ¹
Respect copyright laws	4.67	0.62	91.67%
Use correct spelling	4.67	0.47	100.00%
Proofread for errors	4.58	0.49	100.00%
Use sources ethically	4.42	0.64	91.67%
Write clearly	4.42	0.64	91.67%
Be knowledgeable in subject matter	4.42	0.64	91.67%
Understand grammar rules	4.42	0.49	100.00%
Communicate purpose	4.33	0.47	100.00%
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	4.27	0.62	90.91%
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	4.25	0.43	100.00%
Use technical language correctly	4.25	0.72	83.33%
Write concisely	4.17	0.80	91.67%
Communicate applicability of content	4.17	0.55	91.67%
Identify and understand audience	4.17	0.69	83.33%
Use appropriate tone	4.17	0.55	91.67%
Address a need or issue	4.08	0.49	91.67%
Synthesize research	4.00	0.82	83.33%
Able to revise work	4.00	0.58	83.33%
Able to write abstractly*	3.67	0.75	66.67%

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree

 1 % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

*Removed since the percent agreement was below 70%

Internal Communications. Ten (66.67%) of the competencies had 100.00% agreement

(Table 10). The lowest percent level of agreement was for "adhere to Extension branding

guidelines," which had a 76.92% agreement. As a result, all 15 competencies for internal

communications moved on to Round 3; no competencies were added or removed.

Table 10

Round 2: Agreement of Internal Communications Competencies (f = 15)

Competency	М	SD	% Agree ¹
Use appropriate tone	4.69	0.46	100.00%
Use correct spelling	4.62	0.49	100.00%
Utilize etiquette	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Write clearly	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Organize information logically and consistently	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Consider timeliness of information shared	4.54	0.50	100.00%
Determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)	4.46	0.50	100.00%
Write concisely	4.46	0.50	100.00%
Identify and understand audience	4.46	0.63	92.31%
Determine if message is necessary	4.46	0.63	92.31%
Communicate purpose	4.46	0.50	100.00%
Provide context	4.46	0.50	100.00%
Understand grammar rules	4.38	0.62	92.31%
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	4.23	0.97	76.92%
Able to revise work	4.15	0.66	84.62%

Note. 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree

 1 % Agree = combined responses of 4 or 5

Round 3

In Round 3, participants were asked to determine if they agreed with the group average agreement level of a competency from Round 2 with a "Yes" or "No" choice. If the participant disagreed with the average, the survey would populate another Likert-scale question that had the participant re-evaluate the importance of the competency. When a competency had less than 90% agreement with the ranking on the Round 2 average (more than two experts disagree with the

group average), it would be re-evaluated with a new average as a result. Then, if the new average was below 4.0, the competency would be removed.

Social Media. Fifteen competencies were presented to participants for *social media* in Round 3. "Deliver on the level of the reader" was added as a result of Round 2 (Table 11). Since "Define technical terms" was below 4.0, it was removed. There were seven competencies (such as "identify and understand target audience," "consider timeliness of information shared," and "communicate with precision," etc.) that had 100% agreement on the ranking in the previous Round 2 average. "Use call to actions" had the least amount of agreement (10 yes, 66.67%). Four competencies from *social media* had less than 90% agreement on their averages, and they were re-evaluated with new averages. The average for "Use call to actions" was below 4.0 after re-evaluation, so it was removed, resulting in 14 competencies within *social media*.

Competency	f^{l}	% Agree	M^2	SD
Identify and understand target audience	15	100.00%	-	-
Consider timeliness of information shared	15	100.00%	-	-
Communicate with precision	15	100.00%	-	-
Use correct punctuation	15	100.00%	-	-
Write concisely	15	100.00%	-	-
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	15	100.00%	-	-
Use correct spelling	14	93.33%	-	-
Identify relevance to audience	14	93.33%	-	-
Able to summarize	14	93.33%	-	-
Apply marketing knowledge	14	93.33%	-	-
Adhere to accessibility requirements	13	86.67%	4.31	0.63
Understand platform norms and culture	13	86.67%	4.00	0.37

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Social Media Competencies

Select words that are appropriate, modern,	12	80.00%	4.10	0.44
creative				
Use call to actions*	10	66.67%	3.80	0.71
Deliver on the level of the reader**	-	-	-	-

 $^{1}f = \text{yes}$

² Mean after re-evaluation

*Removed since re-evaluated average is less than 4.0

**Competency went through Likert-scale agreement question as newly added from Round 2

Programs/Workshops Materials. Seventeen competencies in *program/workshop* were presented to participants. The most commonly agreed-upon competencies were "identify and understand audience," "use creativity to help visualize complex ideas," "write concisely," and "develop engaging content," all having received 100% agreement on keeping the previous average from Round 2 (Table 12). The least agreed-upon competency average was "use correct spelling" (11 yes, 73.33%). Five competencies received below 90% agreement on their averages, and thus, their average was re-evaluated. No new averages resulted below 4.0, so no competencies were removed.

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Program/Workshop Material Competencies

Competency	f^{l}	% Agree	M^2	SD
Identify and understand target audience	15	100.00%	-	-
Use creativity to help visualize complex ideas	15	100.00%	-	-
Write concisely	15	100.00%	-	-
Develop engaging content	15	100.00%	-	-
Determine that information is accurate	14	93.33%	-	-
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	14	93.33%	-	-
Deliver on level of the reader	14	93.33%	-	-
Write clearly	14	93.33%	-	-

Integrate and translate current research	14	93.33%	-	-
Understand grammar rules	14	93.33%	-	-
Organize instructions	13	92.86%	-	-
Develop program objectives and match objectives to outcomes	13	92.86%	-	-
Synthesize research	13	86.67%	4.43	0.41
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	13	86.67%	4.44	0.18
Remain objective	13	86.67%	4.45	0.22
Organize information logically	13	86.67%	4.38	0.24
Use correct spelling	11	73.33%	4.42	0.35

 ^{1}f = yes, out of 15 participants ² Mean after re-evaluation

Newspapers/Online Articles. Round 2 resulted in 21 competencies for

newspapers/online articles. Out of the 21 competency averages evaluated, 20 had higher than 90% agreement (Table 13). "Use call to actions" was re-evaluated as it was at 73.33% agreement, and the re-evaluation resulted in a new average that was lower than 4.0 (M = 3.79, SD = 0.67). Thus, "use call to actions" was removed from *newspaper/online article* genre, making the final number of competencies 20.

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Newspaper/Online article Competencies

<u></u>	A	0/ 1		
Competency	J^{*}	% Agree		
Use correct punctuation	15	100.00%	-	-
Use correct spelling	15	100.00%	-	-
Remain objective	15	100.00%	-	-
Write clearly	15	100.00%	-	-
Use appropriate paragraph and	15	100.00%	-	-
sentence structure				
Use plain language	15	100.00%	-	-
Consider timeliness of information	15	100.00%	-	-

shared				
Write concisely	15	100.00%	-	-
Determine objective of material	15	100.00%	-	-
Use inclusive language	15	100.00%	-	-
Check readability level of text	15	100.00%	-	-
Use appropriate writing style (AP,	15	100.00%	-	-
APA, etc.)				
Select action words	15	100.00%	-	-
Determine that information is accurate	14	93.33%	-	-
Deliver on level of the reader	14	93.33%	-	-
Understand grammar rules	14	93.33%	-	-
Identify and understand audience	14	93.33%	-	-
Communicate applicability of content	14	93.33%	-	-
Identify engaging topics	14	93.33%	-	-
Integrate and translate current research	14	93.33%	-	-
Use call to actions*	11	73.33%	3.79	0.67

 ${}^{1}f$ = yes, out of 15 participants

²Mean after re-evaluation

*Removed since agreed-upon average is less than 4.0

Guides/Manuals. Twenty competencies and their averages from Round 2 were evaluated by experts for *guides/manuals*. The majority (85.00%) of the averages were fully agreed-upon as a result of Round 3; 17 competency averages had a 93.33% or higher agreement (Table 14). Three competencies were re-evaluated; none of the new averages were lower than 4.0, so none were removed. This resulted in 20 final competencies for *guides/manuals*.

Table 14

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Guides/Manuals Competencies

Competency	f^1	% Agree	M^2	SD
Write concisely	15	100.00%	-	-
Use correct spelling	15	100.00%	-	-

Use correct punctuation	15	100.00%	-	-
Determine that information is accurate	15	100.00%	-	-
Identify and understand audience	15	100.00%	-	-
Understand grammar rules	15	100.00%	-	-
Define technical terms	15	100.00%	-	-
Remain objective	15	100.00%	-	-
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	15	100.00%	-	-
Integrate visual examples	15	100.00%	-	-
Create meaningful divisions within text	15	100.00%	-	-
Determine objective of material	15	100.00%	-	-
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	15	100.00%	-	-
Write clearly	14	100.00%	-	-
Deliver on level of the reader	14	93.33%	-	-
Use plain language	14	93.33%	-	-
Write with a technical point of view	14	93.33%	-	-
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	13	86.67%	4.59	0.19
Organize information logically and consistently	13	86.67%	4.57	0.17
Integrate and translate current research	13	86.67%	4.33	0.19

 ${}^{1}f =$ yes, out of 15 participants

²Mean after re-evaluation

Technical Publications. Participants were presented seventeen competencies for

technical publications; 76.47% (n = 13) of the averages for the competencies were at or higher than 93.33% (Table 15). The least agreed-upon competency averages were "be knowledgeable in technical subject matter" and "use inclusive language," which were both at an agreement level of 80.00%. Four competencies had below 90% agreement, and their averages were re-evaluated. "Use inclusive language" was removed from the list of competencies since its final average was 3.99 (*SD* = 0.46). As a result, 16 competencies were identified for *technical publications*.

Table 15

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Technical Publications Competencies

Competency	f^{l}	% Agree	M^2	SD
Proofread for errors	15	100.00%	-	-
Use technical language correctly	15	100.00%	-	-
Identify and understand audience	15	100.00%	-	-
Organize information logically and	15	100.00%	-	-
consistently				
Write concisely	15	100.00%	-	-
Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.)	15	100.00%	-	-
Utilize and define tables and graphs	15	100.00%	-	-
Pay attention to cohesion and flow	15	100.00%	-	-
Use descriptive writing	15	100.00%	-	-
Adhere to peer review requirements	14	100.00%	-	-
Respect copyright laws	14	93.33%	-	-
Able to revise work	14	93.33%	-	-
Avoid jargon	14	93.33%	-	-
Follow organizational formatting	13	86.67%	4.67	0.19
guidelines				
Cite sources	13	86.67%	4.53	0.22
Be knowledgeable in technical subject	12	80.00%	4.45	0.42
matter				
Use inclusive language*	12	80.00%	3.99	0.46

 ${}^{1}f$ = yes, out of 15 participants ²Mean after re-evaluation

*Removed since agreed-upon average is less than 4.0

Journal Articles. Eighteen competency averages were evaluated for *journal articles*;

72.22% (n = 13) resulted in 90% or higher agreement (Table 16). Four competencies were re-

evaluated with new averages; all competencies remained as their new average was at or above a

4.0 mean.

Table 16

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Journal Articles Competencies

Competency	f^{l}	% Agree	M^2	SD
Use correct spelling	15	100.00%	-	-
Write clearly	15	100.00%	-	-
Understand grammar rules	15	100.00%	-	-
Follow organizational formatting	15	100.00%	-	-
guidelines				
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA,	15	100.00%	-	-
etc.)				
Write concisely	15	100.00%	-	-
Identify and understand audience	15	100.00%	-	-
Use appropriate tone	15	100.00%	-	-
Able to revise work	14	100.00%	-	-
Respect copyright laws	14	93.33%	-	-
Proofread for errors	14	93.33%	-	-
Use sources ethically	14	93.33%	-	-
Communicate applicability of content	14	93.33%	-	-
Address a need or issue	14	93.33%	-	-
Be knowledgeable in subject matter	13	86.67%	4.48	0.20
Use technical language correctly	13	86.67%	4.39	0.24
Communicate purpose	13	86.67%	4.39	0.24
Synthesize research	13	86.67%	4.00	0.37

 ${}^{1}f$ = yes, out of 15 participants 2 Mean after re-evaluation

Internal Communications. Fifteen competencies and their averages were evaluated; all except one (n = 14) received 90% agreement or higher (Table 17). Only one competency's average was re-evaluated, and its average remained higher than 4.0 (M = 4.57, SD = 0.17).

Table 17

Round 3: Agreement with Averages in Internal Communication Competencies

Competency	f^{l}	% Agree	M^2	SD
Use appropriate tone	15	100.00%	-	-
Write clearly	15	100.00%	-	-
Organize information logically and	15	100.00%	-	-
consistently				
Identify and understand audience	15	100.00%	-	-
Provide context	15	100.00%	-	-
Understand grammar rules	15	100.00%	-	-
Able to revise work	15	100.00%	-	-
Use correct spelling	14	93.33%	-	-
Determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)	14	93.33%	-	-
Utilize etiquette	14	93.33%	-	-
Write concisely	14	93.33%	-	-
Determine if message is necessary	14	93.33%	-	-
Consider timeliness of information	14	93.33%	-	-
shared				
Adhere to Extension branding	14	93.33%	-	-
guidelines				
Communicate purpose	13	86.67%	4.57	0.17

 ${}^{1}f$ = yes, out of 15 participants ²Mean after re-evaluation

As a result of Round 3, four competencies were across genres. The final number of competencies for each genre are as follows: 14 in social media, 17 in program/workshop, 20 in *newspaper/online articles*, 20 in *guides/manuals*, 16 in *technical publications*, 18 in *journal articles*, and 15 in *internal communications* (Table 18). Individually, the competency item list went from 66 (Round 1) to 63 (Round 3).

Round 3: Final Results of Expected Writing Competencies from Delphi Experts

Social media	Program/Workshop	Newspaper articles	Guides/Manuals	Technical pub.	Journal articles	Internal comm.
(f = 14)	(f = 17)	(f = 20)	(f = 20)	(f = 16)	(f = 18)	(f = 15)
Identify and	Identify and	Deliver on level of	Write concisely.	Follow	Follow	Determine
understand target	understand	the reader.		organizational	organizational	appropriate
audience.	audience.		Follow	formatting	formatting	language and format
		Use plain language.	organizational	guidelines.	guidelines.	between
Identify relevance to	Develop engaging		formatting			communication
audience.	content.	Use appropriate writing style (AP,	guidelines.	Use technical language correctly.	Use technical language correctly.	methods (memo, text, email, etc.).
Select words that are	Write clearly.	APA, etc.).	Deliver on level of			
appropriate, modern,			the reader.	Write concisely.	Write concisely.	Utilize etiquette.
creative.	Write concisely.	Select action words.				
			Integrate and	Utilize and define	Use sources	Write concisely.
Adhere to	Be knowledgeable	Identify engaging	translate current	tables and graphs.	ethically.	
accessibility	in technical subject	topics.	research.			Identify and
requirements.	matter.			Identify and	Address a need or	understand
		Integrate and	Organize	understand text's	issue.	audience.
Communicate with	Determine that	translate current	information	audience.		
precision.	information is	research.	logically and	<u> </u>	Write clearly.	Write clearly.
TTT 1. 1. 1	accurate.	***	consistently.	Organize	a	D
Write concisely.		Write clearly.	TT 1 1 1	information	Communicate	Determine if
	Deliver on level of	TT	Use plain language.	logically and	purpose.	message is
Consider timeliness	the reader.	Write concisely.		consistently.	C • •	necessary.
of information	o .		Create meaningful	A · 1 ·	Communicate	o .
shared.	Organize	Identify and	divisions within	Avoid jargon.	applicability of	Organize
A1.1. (instructions.	understand	text.	D	content.	information
Able to summarize.	Understand	audience.	White with a	Respect copyright	Description and a survey of the	logically and
		Demain altiention	Write with a	laws.	Respect copyright	consistently.
Use correct spelling.	grammar rules.	Remain objective.	technical point of	Due of the offer of the survey	laws.	Communicate
Use compat	Use compatent an alling	Determine that	view.	Proofread for errors.	Do Imorriadocal-1-	Communicate
Use correct	Use correct spelling.	Determine that information is	Write algority	Be aware of how	Be knowledgeable	purpose.
punctuation.	Adhere to Extension	accurate.	Write clearly.	material will be	in subject matter.	Adhere to Extension
Apply marketing	branding guidelines.	accurate.	Determine that	presented (digital,	Synthesize research.	branding guidelines.
knowledge.	oranung guidennes.	Use inclusive	information is	paper, etc.).	Synthesize research.	oranding guidennes.
KIIOWICUge.	Integrate and	language.	accurate.	paper, etc.).	Identify and	Provide context.
	translate current	ianguage.	accurate.		understand	
	research.				audience.	

Table 18 continued

Round 3: Final Results of Expected Writing Competencies from Delphi Experts

Social media	Program/Workshop	Newspaper articles	Guides/Manuals	Technical pub.	Journal articles	Internal comm.
(f = 14)	(f=17)	(f = 20)	(<i>f</i> = 19)	(<i>f</i> = 16)	(<i>f</i> = 18)	(f = 15)
Understand platform	Remain objective.	Communicate	Understand	Adhere to peer	Use appropriate	Use appropriate
norms and culture.	TT	applicability of	grammar rules.	review	writing style (AP,	tone.
D 1 1 1 11	Use creativity to	content.	D 1 1 1 11	requirements.	APA, etc.).	
Be knowledgeable	help visualize		Be knowledgeable	D 1 1 1 11		Able to revise work.
in technical subject	complex ideas.	Consider timeliness	in technical subject	Be knowledgeable	Able to revise work.	
matter.		of information	matter.	in technical subject		Consider timeliness
	Develop program	shared.		matter.	Proofread for errors.	of information
Deliver on level of	objectives and	Ch 1 1 . 1 . '1' +	Define technical	TT	TT	shared.
the reader.	match objectives to	Check readability	terms.	Use descriptive	Use appropriate	
	outcomes.	level of text.	Identify and	writing.	tone.	Use correct spelling.
	Synthesize research.	Use ennrenniete	understand	Pay attention to	Understand	Understand
	Synthesize research.	Use appropriate paragraph and	audience.	cohesion and flow.	grammar rules.	grammar rules.
	Organize	sentence structure.	audience.	concision and now.	grammar rules.	grammai ruies.
	information	sentence structure.	Remain objective.	Able to revise work.	Use correct spelling.	
	logically.	Determine objective	Remain objective.	The to revise work.	Ose concer spennig.	
	logically.	of material.	Use correct spelling.	Cite sources.		
			ese contest spennig.			
		Understand	Integrate visual			
		grammar rules.	examples.			
		C	*			
		Use correct spelling.	Use appropriate			
			paragraph and			
		Use correct	sentence structure.			
		punctuation.				
			Determine objective			
			of material.			
			Use correct			
			punctuation.			

Objective Two: Determine the genres of writing in which Extension agents in Alabama participate.

Demographics

Agents (n = 47) were asked to share what program they primarily are assigned to, what university they are affiliated with, and their highest level of education (Table 19). Alabama 4-H was the highest reported program represented at 25.00% (n = 12). The majority of respondents (89.36%, n = 42) are affiliated with Auburn University. As for the highest completed level of education, most (70.21%, n = 33) had at least obtained a Masters. The highest level reported was a doctorate (4.26%, n = 2).

Table 19

Characteristics of Survey Participants (n = 47)

Variable	п	%
Program*		
Alabama 4-H	12	25.00%
Human Nutrition, Diet & Health	9	18.75%
Home Grounds, Gardens & Home Pests	6	12.50%
SNAP-Ed	6	12.50%
Forestry, Wildlife & Natural Resources	5	10.42%
Commercial Horticulture	3	6.25%
Agronomic Crops	3	6.25%
Food & Safety Quality	2	4.17%
Animal Sciences & Forages	1	2.08%
Financial Resource Management & Workforce Development	1	2.08%
Farm & Agribusiness Management	0	0.00%
Aquatic Resources	0	0.00%
Family & Child Development	0	0.00%

University affiliation

Alabama A&M	5	10.64%
Auburn University	42	89.36%
Highest level of completed education		
Associates	0	0.00%
Bachelor's	12	25.53%
Master's	33	70.21%
Educational Specialist	0	0.00%
Doctorate	2	4.26%

*Two respondents indicated more than one category (n = 49)

Genres that Alabama Extension Agents Engage in

In the survey for the Extension agents in Alabama, participants were asked what genres they engage in. Their answers were somewhat to what the Delphi experts (their directors and administrators) shared; *internal communications* (100.00%) and *social media* (80.85%) were also the top genres that participating agents indicated they engage in (Table 20). These Extension agents reported that they do not engage in *technical publications* (23.40%), *journal articles* (12.77%), and *guides/manuals* (8.51%).

Table 20

Genres that Alabama Extension Agents Engage in (N = 47)

Genre	п	%
Internal communications	47	100.00%
Social media	38	80.85%
Program materials	35	74.47%
Newspapers	33	70.21%
Technical publications	11	23.40%
Journal articles	6	12.77%
Guides/Manuals	4	8.51%

Agents were asked if there were any other types of writing that they engage in that were not contained in the survey. While there was no consensus, other genres that were submitted were: youth development curriculum, radio blurbs, county newsletters, and correspondences with external clients and agencies.

Objective Three: Describe how Alabama Extension agents' rank their perceived effectiveness of the writing competencies determined by Extension directors.

Extension agents were asked whether they engaged in a type of genre or not; if they do, then the survey populated the competencies within that genre for them to consider. For each competency, they were prompted to respond with how effective they perceive themselves to be in that competency with a rating of Not Effective at All (1), Slightly Effective (2), Moderately Effective (3), Very Effective (4), and Extremely Effective (5).

Perceived Effectiveness in Social Media

Thirty-eight (80.85%, N = 47) Extension agents indicated that they engage in writing for social media. In *social media*, "use correct spelling" (M = 4.34, SD = 0.62) and "use correct punctuation" (M = 4.32, SD = 0.65) were the top two competencies that agents considered themselves to be most effective in (Table 21). "Apply marketing knowledge" (M = 3.18, SD = 1.17) was the competency that agents felt the least effective in for this genre.

Table 21

Competency	М	SD
Use correct spelling	4.34	0.62
Use correct punctuation	4.32	0.65
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.11	0.79
Identify relevance to audience	3.95	0.89

Perceived Effectiveness in Social Media

Able to summarize	3.89	0.82
Communicate with precision	3.84	0.74
Write concisely	3.84	0.87
Consider timeliness of information shared	3.79	0.92
Select words that are appropriate, modern, creative	3.76	0.98
Deliver on the level of the reader	3.66	0.98
Identify and understand target audience	3.55	0.82
Adhere to accessibility requirements	3.39	0.96
Understand platform norms and culture	3.21	1.26
Apply marketing knowledge	3.18	1.17

Note. n = 38 for each competency

Perceived Effectiveness in Programs/Workshop Materials

There were 35 (74.47%, N = 47) Extension agents who responded for the

programs/workshop materials genre. Similar to social media, "use correct spelling" (M = 4.20, SD = 0.79) was the competency that agents in which considered themselves the most effective, with "understand grammar rules" (M = 4.09, SD = 0.84) following (Table 22). The competency that averaged as the least effective was "synthesize research" (M = 3.21, SD = 1.23).

Table 22

Perceived Effectiveness in Programs/Workshop Materials

Competency	М	SD
Use correct spelling	4.20	0.79
Understand grammar rules	4.09	0.84
Determine that information is accurate	4.06	0.71
Organize information logically	4.00	0.72
Identify and understand audience	3.94	0.75
Write clearly	3.91	0.77
Organize instructions	3.91	0.69

3.86	0.96
3.80	0.75
3.80	0.79
3.74	0.84
3.71	0.74
3.60	0.93
3.54	0.87
3.49	0.97
3.26	1.18
3.21	1.23
	3.80 3.80 3.74 3.71 3.60 3.54 3.49 3.26

*One respondent skipped this item (n = 34)

Perceived Effectiveness in Newspapers/Online Articles

Thirty-three (70.21%, n = 47) Extension agents indicated that they write in the

newspapers/online articles genre. Agents felt that they were most effective in the competency

"determine that information is accurate" (M = 4.39, SD = 0.55). They felt the least effective in

"use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)" (M = 3.39, SD = 1.07; Table 23).

Table 23

Perceived Effectiveness in Newspapers/Online Articles

Competency	М	SD
Determine that information is accurate	4.39	0.55
Use correct spelling	4.21	0.69
Use correct punctuation	4.18	0.72
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	4.15	0.78
Understand grammar rules	4.15	0.74
Write clearly	4.09	0.83
Use plain language	4.09	0.67
Identify engaging topics	4.03	0.80

Remain objective	4.00	0.82
Identify and understand audience	4.00	0.82
Consider timeliness of information shared	4.00	0.78
Communicate applicability of content	3.97	0.83
Determine objective of material	3.97	0.76
Write concisely	3.94	0.85
Deliver on level of the reader	3.91	0.75
Integrate and translate current research	3.79	0.81
Use inclusive language	3.76	1.05
Select action words	3.76	0.89
Check readability level of text	3.73	1.02
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	3.39	1.07

Note. n = 33 for each competency

Perceived Effectiveness in Guides/Manuals

In *guides/manuals*, only four (8.51%, n = 47) agents indicated that they engage in writing for this genre. "Identify and understand audience" (M = 4.75, SD = 0.43) in addition to "be knowledgeable in technical subject matter" (M = 4.75, SD = 0.43) were the competencies that agents considered themselves to be the most effective in (Table 24). There were 11 competencies that all shared the same average (M = 4.50, SD = 0.50). Participants felt they were least effective in the competency "use plain language" (M = 3.50, SD = 0.87).

Table 24

Perceived Effectiveness in Guides/Manuals

Competency	M	SD
Identify and understand audience	4.75	0.43
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.75	0.43
Use correct spelling	4.50	0.50
Use correct punctuation	4.50	0.50

Write clearly	4.50	0.50
Determine that information is accurate	4.50	0.50
Understand grammar rules	4.50	0.50
Organize information logically and consistently	4.50	0.50
Define technical terms	4.50	0.50
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	4.50	0.50
Integrate and translate current research	4.50	0.50
Determine objective of material	4.50	0.50
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	4.50	0.50
Remain objective	4.25	0.43
Write with a technical point of view	4.25	0.43
Write concisely	4.00	0.71
Deliver on level of the reader	4.00	0.71
Create meaningful divisions within text	4.00	0.00
Integrate visual examples*	3.67	0.47
Use plain language	3.50	0.87

*One respondent skipped this item (n = 3)

Perceived Effectiveness in Technical Publications

Only 10 (21.28%, N = 47) Extension agents responded that they engage in writing technical publications. "Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter" (M = 4.40, SD = 0.66) was the competency that agents felt the most effective in, with "avoid jargon" as the competency that was reported as their least effective (M = 3.60, SD = 0.92; Table 25).

Perceived Effectiveness in Technical Publications

Competency	М	SD
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	4.40	0.66
Organize information logically and consistently	4.20	0.60
Cite sources	4.20	0.60

Adhere to peer review requirements	4.20	0.75
Respect copyright laws	4.10	0.83
Use technical language correctly	4.10	0.70
Identify and understand audience	4.10	0.94
Proofread for errors	4.00	0.77
Utilize and define tables and graphs	4.00	0.89
Able to revise work	4.00	0.89
Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.)	3.90	0.83
Pay attention to cohesion and flow	3.90	0.54
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	3.80	0.75
Write concisely	3.80	0.60
Use descriptive writing	3.80	0.75
Avoid jargon	3.60	0.92

Note. n = 10 for each competency

Perceived Effectiveness in Journal Articles

Six (12.77%, n = 47) of the Extension agents indicated that they write journal articles. The competencies they felt the most effective in were "respect copyright laws," "use correct spelling," and "use sources ethically" (M = 4.67, SD = 0.47; Table 26). The two competencies ("write clearly" and "write concisely") that agents felt they were least effective in had an average of 4.0 (SD = 0.82), which is still in the range of Very Effective to Extremely Effective (Lindner & Lindner, 2024).

Table 26

Perceived Effectiveness in Journal Articles

Competency	М	SD
Respect copyright laws	4.67	0.47
Use correct spelling	4.67	0.47
Use sources ethically	4.67	0.47

Be knowledgeable in subject matter	4.50	0.50
Understand grammar rules	4.50	0.50
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	4.50	0.50
Use technical language correctly	4.50	0.50
Identify and understand audience	4.50	0.50
Proofread for errors	4.33	0.47
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	4.33	0.47
Communicate purpose	4.33	0.47
Communicate applicability of content	4.17	0.69
Write clearly	4.00	0.82
Write concisely	4.00	0.82

Note. n = 6 for each competency

Perceived Effectiveness in Internal Communications

One hundred percent (n = 47) of Extension agents indicated that they engage in internal communications. In this genre, "use correct spelling" (M = 4.27, SD = 0.71) was the competency that agents felt most effective in, while "adhere to Extension branding guidelines" (M = 3.82, SD = 0.90) was the one they felt least effective in (Table 27).

Perceived Effectiveness in Internal Communications

Competency	М	SD
Use correct spelling	4.27	0.71
Understand grammar rules	4.18	0.80
Utilize etiquette	4.16	0.79
Identify and understand audience	4.16	0.76
Determine if message is necessary	4.16	0.79
Able to revise work	4.13	0.81
Write clearly	4.11	0.80
Communicate purpose	4.11	0.74

Provide context	4.07	0.80
Consider timeliness of information shared	4.07	0.71
Organize information logically and consistently	4.04	0.76
Use appropriate tone	4.00	0.82
Determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)	4.00	0.87
Write concisely	3.91	0.90
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	3.82	0.90

Objective Four: Evaluate perceived effectiveness to determine potential areas of need in agent training regarding written communication in Alabama.

Across all genres, the overall perceived effectiveness for the identified competencies was 3.92, which is between Moderately Effective and Very Effective but closer to Very Effective (Lindner & Lindner, 2024). These Extension agents, even though they may not have felt more effective in all competencies, seem to feel they are very effective in their ability to write. In fact, when looking at each individual agent's average over all reported competencies, three averaged Moderately Effective (2.5-3.5), 24 averaged Very Effective (3.5-4.5), and 20 averaged Extremely Effective (4.5-5.0; Lindner & Lindner, 2024).

As for the average effectiveness within genres, the highest average of effectiveness was with *journal articles* (M = 4.43, SD = 0.27; Table 28). Six (12.77%) agents feel very effective in writing for that specific purpose. On the other hand, the genre that had the lowest average for effectiveness was *social media* (M = 3.71, SD = 0.41), for which the majority of agents (85.00%) reported their engagement. The lowest average was still between Moderately Effective and Very Effective, which indicates that agents still feel fairly effective in *social media*.

Table 28

Genre	М	SD	n
Journal articles	4.43	0.27	6
Guides/Manuals	4.37	0.35	4
Technical publications	4.08	0.34	11
Newspapers/Online articles	3.98	0.21	33
Internal communications	3.94	0.55	47
Program/Workshop	3.74	0.29	35
Social media	3.71	0.41	38

Average Effectiveness within Genres of Alabama Extension Agents (n = 47)

Summary

This study used two methods to determine the expected writing competencies and effectiveness in writing within an Extension context. To determine expectations at a supervisory level within Extension, a Delphi panel was formed, which consisted of 21 members. As a result of the Delphi, participants were able to come to a consensus on what writing competencies they expect Extension agents to have within certain genres. These competencies were used in the second part of the study, where Extension agents in Alabama were asked whether they felt effective in the competencies or not. Overall, agents reported that they felt at least moderately effective in their competencies.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS & DISCUSSION

This study sought to identify writing competencies within Extension and determine the effectiveness of agents regarding those competencies. Based on the agents' perceived effectiveness, this study also sought to identify any training areas agents' need in relation to their writing.

Conclusion

Objective One: Determine the writing competencies Extension directors consider necessary for Extension agents.

In order to have a set of competencies to ask Extension agents about, a Delphi expert panel was formed that composed of 21 state directors and other supervisors in Extension that regularly see and evaluate writing within Extension. In the first round, participants were asked to determine if the provided genres (*social media, program/workshop materials, newspapers/online articles, guides/manuals, technical publications, journal articles,* and *internal communications*) were applicable to their agents and if they had any other genres or types of writing to suggest. These genres received 50% or higher in agreement, and they were kept. No other genres were suggested. Delphi experts were asked to continue providing competencies for genres even if the genre was not applicable to their state's agents in particular.

After three rounds, a final consensus was formed on the competencies that the experts expect within seven writing genres. While there were 63 individual competencies identified, ranging from using proper spelling to branding guidelines, the experts agreed upon 120 items shared across the seven genres. Competencies that focused on grammar or grammar-related topics were typically consistent and expected across all genres. This finding is supported by

previous studies in agricultural communication, where employers indicated that they preferred graduates who were competent in their grammatical competencies (Morgan, 2010; Wyss & Cletzer, 2023).

Social Media. Fourteen competencies were established in this genre. The most highly agreedupon (100.00%) competencies were "identify and understand target audience," "consider timeliness of information shared," "communicate with precision," "use correct punctuation," and "write concisely." Experts considered multiple elements to be important when writing for social media, such as audience awareness, timeliness, and presentation of content. For example, "deliver on level of the reader" was suggested to be added in Round 2 upon further consideration, which also takes into account audience needs during writing for social media.

On the other hand, during the last round, competencies "define technical terms" and "use call to actions" were removed from the entire list due to their low agreement rate. With the short and quick nature of social media content, defining technical terms may not be applicable or appropriate for the genre, which is why it might have gotten removed. As for "use call to actions," it was also removed in *newspapers/online articles*, which ultimately removed it from the competency list as a whole. It is possible that this competency, while identified by Delphi members, just did not fully make sense within the list as the rounds went on.

Programs/Workshop Materials. Seventeen competencies were established in this genre. "Identify and understand target audience," "use creativity to help visualize complex ideas," "write concisely," and "develop engaging content" were the most agreed-upon competencies at 100.00% agreement. In this case, audience was still an identified priority, as with *social media*, and other elements like creativity, concision, and engagement were identified for this genre as well. Since Extension programs and workshops are meant to interact and serve different

audiences, the top competencies here resonate with that purpose (Fox et al., 2017). For example, "use creativity to help visualize complex ideas" and "develop engaging content" are both competencies that are only included within this genre and do not appear in any other genre's competency list, showing that the Delphi members were intentional in their consideration of what competencies go with which context.

Newspapers/Online Articles. Twenty competencies were established in this genre. 65% (f = 13) of the finalized competencies had 100.00% agreement and the other remaining seven had 93.33%, indicating that the Delphi participants were very much aligned in their feelings towards these competencies. Competencies in this genre mostly focused on mechanical things (like spelling, punctuation, and grammar), language use or word choice, accuracy, concision, objectivity, and formatting. As mentioned earlier, "call to actions" was removed from this genre's list in Round 3, as its re-evaluated average was less than 4.0; it was also the only one on the list that had below 90% agreement.

Guides/Manuals. There were 20 competencies that were established in this genre. Similar to *newspapers/online articles*, there were several (f = 10) competencies that received 100.00% agreement. Competencies such as "determine that information is accurate," "write clearly," "identify and understand audience," "define technical terms," and "use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure" seem to be relevant to this genre, which is written in a technical writing style. Accuracy, clarity, visual paragraph elements, and objectivity are all elements of a technical piece that instructs or educates, such as a guide (Lindsay, 2011). The competencies that received the lowest agreement were still fairly high in agreement (86.67%), but they had more to do with being knowledgeable, organizing information, and adding in

current research. While these competencies were also considered to be in this genre, there was just a little less consensus on them.

Technical Publications. Sixteen competencies were established in this genre. 76.47% (*f* = 13) of the competencies had an agreement higher than 90%. Among the most agreed-upon competencies were "proofread for errors," "use technical language correctly," "utilize and define tables and graphs," and "pay attention to cohesion and flow." Since some technical publications include research and can be used towards promotions for agents, there seemed to be more of an emphasis on double-checking and being vigilant with potential content or writing errors (Duke, 2020). "Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.)" in addition to "adhere to peer review requirements" were among the competencies that only appeared in this genre's list, which further indicates that participants were considering the nuances of writing in genre rather than writing as a whole.

In Round 2, "use active voice" was removed from the list due to low % level of agreement; this lack of consensus is consistent with current academic conversations on whether to use passive or active voice in scientific writing (Banks, 2017). In Round 3, "use inclusive language" was removed after re-evaluation, and its average was below 4.0 (M = 3.99, SD = 0.46). The consensus on this competency was very close to being accepted in this genre's list, but it still remained outside of the research team's set parameters. In this way, this competency could still be considered relevant or important, just not in the scope of this study in particular.

Journal Articles. In this genre, 18 competencies were agreed upon. Nine (50.00%) of the competencies had 100.00% agreement; those competencies focused on spelling, clarity, grammar adherence, formatting guidelines, appropriate writing style, concision, and tone. Other competencies that were specific to this genre were "use sources ethically" and "address a need or

issue," both of which make sense within this genre. Journal articles typically require the use of sources, particularly in an ethical way with the use of in-text citations and references, and they are also usually organized by research objectives that address a potential need. This genre shared the competency "synthesize research" with program/workshop materials; while these genres have potentially different audiences and methods of conveying research, they both use synthesis as a means to present research.

Internal Communications. This genre resulted in 15 competencies. Almost half (46.67%, n = 7) of the competencies received 100.00% agreement on them. The most agreed-upon competencies included "use appropriate tone," "write clearly," "provide context," "understand grammar rules," and "able to revise work"; most of these competencies either focus on clarity or things that will help in clarity of content. In email etiquette, professionality has to be communicated through writing, which many competencies can contribute or culminate into. There were a few competencies particular to this genre, such as "utilize etiquette," "determine if message is necessary," "determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)" and "provide context." In fact, internal communications had the most unique competencies, speaking to its distinctiveness.

Ties to Theoretical Framework. In creating the competencies, these experts in Extension demonstrated that they were able to consider types of writing within each genre's own sociocultural context (Flowers, 1994). While they may not have knowingly engaged in social cognitive thinking (Bandura, 1986), they were able to consider how writers may have personal, behavioral, and environmental factors within each genre that could affect writers, their writing, and even their audience. For example, *program/workshop materials* contained "use creativity to help visualize complex ideas" and "develop engaging content" within their competency list;

these competencies did not appear elsewhere. These competencies also indicate that writers needed to take into account the presentation of their written content in order to best serve that particular genre's audience, which would be through programs or workshops (Tylczak et al., 2015). The creation of these competencies and the panels' agreement on them helps demonstrate that Delphi panel experts considered the context of the genre and how the writer should take action in their writing.

The final competencies collected from this part of the study also indicate that people in supervisory power in Extension consider their agents to be active in their writing. Not active as in producing a lot of content, but active as in an active, cognitive agent who is able to perceive multiple contextual, social elements and respond to them in their writing. This is supported by Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory as well as Flower's (1994) social cognitive theory of writing; both posit that humans are not only able to recognize the social and cultural aspects surrounding a situation but also able to actively engage and make choices appropriate to that context. For instance, the competencies "define technical terms" and "proofread for errors" are things that are more mechanical in nature; they can be easier to perform as they are easier to measure self-assessment. But Delphi panel expertss also included competencies that share an expectation for their agents to be socially cognitive as well, such as "use appropriate tone" (internal communications) and "consider timeliness of information shared" (social media, *newspaper/online articles*, and *internal communications*). These competencies imply that Extension directors recognize and want their agents to recognize that some competencies are only needed in their corresponding areas.

Comparatively, however, "identify and understand audience" was deemed appropriate in all seven genres, showing that the Delphi experts recognized that all of these types of writing

have to reach an audience, and in order to do so, the audience must first be identified and also understood. As this was not the only competency that was submitted and agreed upon, experts believed and agreed that other competencies also contribute to overall the effectiveness and success of the writing but also that "identify and understand audience" was important enough to be included in all of the genres they looked at.

Objective Two: Determine the genres of writing in which Extension agents in Alabama participate.

Using the final competencies that the experts on the Delphi panel provided, an instrument containing these competencies was built to send out to Alabama Extension agents. This instrument was sent in survey form for agents to indicate whether or not they engaged in any of the seven identified genres (*social media, program/workshop materials, newspapers/online articles, guides/manuals, technical publications, journal articles,* and *internal communications*) and to then report their effectiveness with competencies within an applicable genre. If an agent indicated that they did not engage in a genre, then the survey did not ask them to report their effectiveness in that genre and skipped to the next one. As a result, agents shared which genres of writing that they consistently participate in.

The genre that received the most indication of participation was *internal communications*. We assumed that all Extension agents participate in *internal communications* through the use of email and other workplace, text-based mediums, and our assumption was confirmed. All agents who participated in the study (n = 47) indicated that they engage in *internal communications* as a genre. Following *internal communications, social media* was the second-most indicated genre that agents engage in. This finding is consistent with recent studies that focus on equipping Extension agents with more strategies and techniques for reaching audiences through social

media (Beattie et al., 2019; Ferree, 2015; Nordby, 2014). Notably, *program materials* and *newspapers/online articles* also had higher indications of participation with 74.47% (n = 35) and 70.21% (n = 38) of agents reporting their engagement in them. Thus, while not all agents in Alabama engage in writing for program materials or newspapers, the majority of this sample size indicated that they do.

This finding of the most engaged-in genres (*internal communications, social media, program/materials,* and *newspapers/online articles*) lines up with the identification of genres from the Extension directors, who shared what genres they thought their Extension agents participate in (Table 2). In the same way, the genres that fewer agents reported participating in (*technical publications, journal articles,* and *guides/manuals*) were also collectively reported as genres with less agent engagement by experts. This alignment shows a potential consistency in thought. Also, if experts and leaders in Extension recognize and understand the types of writing that are more applicable to agents, then the competencies that they produced through the Delphi may also be identifiable with agents, which strengthens this study overall.

Objective Three: Describe how Alabama Extension agents' rank their perceived effectiveness of the writing competencies determined by Extension directors.

Relying on our theoretical frameworks, we surmised that the Extension agents would be able to recognize various types of writing they produce and consider the type of writing within its own context (Flower, 1994), and determine their own perception towards themselves and their writing competencies (Bandura, 1997). By asking agents to share their perceptions of their own competencies through a Likert scale (not effective at all, slightly effective, moderately effective, very effective, and extremely effective), we gave them the means to measure and report their own self-efficacy in a competency and genre as a whole. In the information letter, agents were informed that supervisors within Extension, some belonging to their state, had provided and agreed to the genres and competencies contained in the survey. In addition to their employers' expectations, we also expected agents to consider previous performance evaluations (external factors) and potentially weigh their own comfortability with the genre and its competencies individually (internal factors). Most notably, there were no competencies that received a "not effective at all" rating, so for every genre, agents felt at least slightly effective in every competency as a base starting point. Overall, agents felt particularly more effective in competencies that focused on grammar and mechanics, which are generally more well-defined, easier to learn and to check for effectiveness. They also felt effective in writing competencies that relied on their subject-matter knowledge or fact-checking abilities, competencies in which they already likely excel or are effective in from their own specialized content background.

Social Media. The competencies that agents considered themselves to be the most effective in for this type of writing was "use correct spelling" and "use correct punctuation," with "be knowledgeable in technical subject matter" and "identify relevance to audience" following. As such, agents seemed to be most comfortable with things that could be checked and corrected before publishing a post. Agents still felt very effective in things where they needed to rely on their own knowledge of subject matter or help the audience understand why their post could be relevant to them, which could increase engagement. On the other hand, agents indicated that they did not feel as effective in "understand platform norms and culture" as well as "apply marketing knowledge," but the means for these were 3.21 and 3.18, which still put the average effectiveness above "moderately effective." Thus, agents feel relatively more effective across all competencies in *social media*.

Program/Workshop Materials. Grammar-related competencies received the highest perceived effectiveness for this genre ("use correct spelling" and "understand grammar rules"). Following these competences was "determine that information is accurate." The responses for this genre are similar to the ones in *social media*, with agents indicating that they felt more effective with competencies that focused on spelling and grammar, followed by a competency that centered on information and fact-checking. Since agents are subject-matter experts, it makes sense that they would feel effective in ensuring the accuracy of their content. The competencies that had the lowest average effectiveness were "integrate and translate current research" and "synthesize research," indicating that agents felt less effective with research-related competency areas. These competencies, however, still averaged 3.26 and 3.21, placing them between moderately effective and very effective on the scale. When writing for *program/workshop* materials, agents indicated that they felt, at the least, moderately effective to extremely effective.

Newspapers/Online Articles. For this genre of writing, the competency that agents felt the most effective in was "determine that information is accurate," which was followed by four competencies that were mechanics and grammar related (i.e., "use correct punctuation," "use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure"). This finding continues the trend that agents feel most effective in competencies where their knowledge about subject-matter or grammar can affect their perceived effectiveness. While "use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)" received the lowest average effectiveness, it was also still within the moderately effective to very effective range (M = 3.39), showing that agents still felt effective in this competency, just not as effective as others.

Guides/Manuals. The top two competencies that agents felt they were most effective in were "identify and understand audience" and "be knowledgeable in subject matter" at 4.75,

which is a relatively high mean. Actually, the agents of this study who participate in this form of writing felt more than "very effective" for almost all of the competencies. There were only two competencies that were lower than a 4.0 average, and even they were close. "Integrate visual examples" and "use plain language" were 3.67 and 3.50 respectively. With the average effectiveness for each competency being rather high, even the ones that are the "lowest," these findings indicate that the agents who engage in writing guides or manuals consider themselves to be close to "extremely effective" in it collectively.

Technical Publications. "Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter" was the competency that agents shared being the most effective in for this writing genre. In these findings, agents indicated a higher perceived effectiveness again in a writing competency that involves subject matter; while grammar-related competencies are ranked lower on the average effectiveness, the means are very close together still, indicating only a slightly lower perceived effectiveness in them. The competency that was indicated as the lowest in effectiveness was "avoid jargon," and even this competency's mean was still at 3.60, which placed it in between "moderately effective" and "very effective" as a result. Thus, even though agents seemed to feel less confident in their effectiveness on avoiding jargon, they still seemed to feel confident, nonetheless. Technical publications tend to cover research-heavy topics, so avoiding jargon can likely be considered difficult by some writers. Additionally, agents rated themselves as more than "very effective" in the competency "use technical language correctly," so it is possible that these agents prefer to work around jargon rather than avoid it entirely.

Journal Articles. The agents in this study who engage in writing journal articles perceive themselves to be between "very effective" and "extremely effective," as the competencies that shared the lowest mean (M = 4.0) were still on the higher end of the scale. Thus, these agents do

not seem to have any perceptions about a lowered effectiveness in their writing abilities for journal articles. As journal articles are a form of academic writing, it is possible that the agents who participated in this section have had more formal training in higher education, which would bolster their own perceived effectiveness.

Internal Communications. This was the only genre that all agents indicated that they engaged in writing for *internal communications*. "Use correct spelling" and "understand grammar rules" were the competencies that had the highest average effectiveness within this genre, while "adhere to Extension branding guidelines" was the lowest average. As is the case with most of the other genres, the lowest mean (M = 3.82) was still relatively high on the scale, between "moderately effective" and "very effective," meaning that, as a whole, all agents felt at least moderately effective in the competencies for this genre. This finding is consistent with the fact that basic communication through mediums such as emails is expected for most employees in the workforce, and agents would likely already be effective prior to employment (Kleckner & Marshall, 2023; Leggette et al., 2011).

Ties to Theoretical Framework. Agents consistently perceived themselves as more effective in competencies that centered on grammar and subject-matter knowledge. Bandura (1997) posits that both a solid efficacy belief and prior competencies produce the ability to perform well at a task. These agents are more likely to have had more intensive training in grammar and agricultural concepts in higher education, especially considering that the majority of the agents who participated (n = 33) have a masters. In addition, agents were able to consider themselves as writers who actively engage in some, most, or all of the genres presented in the instrument. Agents engaged and provided a self-assessment, indicating they recognized they are an active participant in these written discourses (Flower, 1994).

Objective Four: Evaluate perceived effectiveness to determine potential areas of need in agent training regarding written communication in Alabama.

The overall average effectiveness across all genres for participating agents was 3.92, which indicates that agents generally felt closer to "very effective" but at least "moderately effective" in these genres of writing and their competencies. Whether this is because of specialized, writing-intensive courses in higher education or current training that is provided at the regional or state level, the agents who participated in this study demonstrated that they perceive themselves to be more effective than not in their writing.

In terms of ranking by average effectiveness, even the genre with the lowest average effectiveness, *social media*, had an overall average effectiveness of 3.71 (*SD* = 0.27), which is still relatively high. However, the competencies that received a lower average of perceived effectiveness were genre specific within *social media*; therefore, writing for social media may still need to be addressed with training, with special attention towards the different types of platforms, accessibility requirements, and marketing strategies. Since *social media* was one of the most frequently indicated forms of writing that agents in Alabama engage in (80.85%, n = 37), the data collected in this section is more generalizable.

Ties to Theoretical Framework. While it is possible that the participating agents in this study may have incorrect perceptions towards themselves and their effectiveness, Bandura (1997) states that it is still important for employers to know the perceptions and self-efficacy of their employees in order to plan for training. In this way, agents shared that they feel mostly effective in their writing, which can help Extension leadership prepare professional development to be more appropriate and applicable.

99

Implications

Objective One: Determine the writing competencies Extension directors consider necessary for Extension agents.

By agreeing on a set list of writing genres and their corresponding competencies, participating Extension leadership demonstrated that they recognize and expect many forms of writing from their Extension agents. Many of these competencies generally focused on clarity, translation of research, and audience awareness, which shows an acknowledgement of the purpose behind writing in Extension—to clearly communicate agricultural research to an audience. This acknowledgement is similar to the findings of other studies where leaders in the agricultural industry recognized the need for clearer communication of scientific and agricultural information (Morgan, 2010; McLeod-Morin et al., 2020).

These experts in Extension produced and agreed upon competencies that were relevant and appropriate, further showing their understanding of the types of writing they identified. Following consensus, several forms of writing contained competencies that particularly mentioned spelling, punctuation, sentence and paragraph structure, and other grammatical topics; this identification is consistent with several previous studies outside of the agricultural industry that emphasized the desire for employees to have a mastery of grammar-related competencies (Deane et al., 2008; National Association of Colleges and Employers, 2019). State Extension directors also included competencies that were genre-specific, like "determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)" in *internal communications*, among others. As such, participating Extension leadership showed that they can consider the contextual and sociocultural factors that make genres unique and verbalize them through expected competencies (Flowers, 1994).

100

Objective Two: Determine the genres of writing in which Extension agents in Alabama participate.

Agents were asked about their engagement with seven forms of writing; while not every agent engaged in every form of writing that was included, every genre had at least one agent that indicated engagement. Many of these Extension agents indicated that they wrote in more than one genre, as well. As such, at least with this sample population, Extension agents switch between various forms of writing during their employment. More Extension agents seemed to write for *internal communications, social media, program/workshop materials,* and *newspapers/online articles.* This reporting is consistent with previously identified types of writing in Extension (Adams et al., 2005; Beattie et al., 2019; Ehret & Kiernan, 2008; Tylczak et al., 2015). Writing that occurs within *internal communications* has not been specifically identified in scholarship, and yet, all participating agents indicated their engagement with it. Even though the writing that occurs within *internal communications* might seem basic or implied, it is still a form of writing that is expected and evaluated by Extension leadership. *Objective Three: Describe how Alabama Extension agents' rank their perceived effectiveness of the writing competencies determined by Extension directors*.

Since each writing genre carries its own contextual formatting and elements to consider, these agents showed that they are actively considering (and reporting effectiveness in) these elements. Flower (1994) argued that writers should be able to recognize the sociocultural parameters of writing and the differences between various forms as they participate and add to the discussion. These agents showed that they see themselves as mostly skilled and effective in their writing, ultimately indicating that their self-efficacy, or self-beliefs, are positive and high (Bandura, 1997). This overall positive report on effectiveness also provides an interesting connection between Extension leadership and their employees. In this study, state directors shared their expectations, and Extension employees evaluated themselves in consideration of these expectations. As a result, the participating agents shared that they not only rise to these expectations but also execute their expected competencies effectively. As such, Extension agents in Alabama consider themselves to be operating quite well in their written communication. *Objective Four: Evaluate perceived effectiveness to determine potential areas of need in agent training regarding written communication in Alabama.*

Extension agents in this study shared that they feel very effective in their writing competencies across all writing genres. For example, even though *social media* was collectively ranked the lowest in terms of effectiveness, its overall average was still very high. However, *social media* was also indicated as one of the writing genres that most agents engage in; professional development offered on writing for social media could be more relevant to all agents collectively. Additionally, agents did not select "extremely effective" for all competencies and genres, showing that there is still room for improvement in every writing genre that can be strengthened by further training.

Recommendations

For Research

While this study established that Extension agents in Alabama have strong self-efficacy in their writing competencies, it was not clear why their self-efficacy was so high. Bandura (1997) suggests that multiple external and internal factors can contribute to self-efficacy; thus, a continuation of this research could be through an investigation of the factors influencing these Extension agents. There are several existing studies in agricultural education that take this step

102

further in assessing self-efficacy (Banwart & Qu, 2023; Lawson et al., 2021; Ruth & Emmert, 2019).

Only the state directors in the southern region of the United States were invited and included in this study; future research could extend this study to a national level to determine the common forms of writing that Extension directors expect in every state. Likewise, Extension agents in other states could be invited to reflect on their own perceived effectiveness within different forms of writing. It is possible that there are still several writing genres that were unidentified within this study; another study on common forms of writing in Extension could further clarify what writing in Extension looks like.

For Practitioners

Even though participating Extension agents perceived themselves to be very effective in their writing competencies, there is still a need for further training. While perception can affect performance, it is possible these agents' writing is not effective in practice. Extension leadership and administration should consider their agents' self-efficacy when preparing their professional developments, but they should also continue to evaluate their agents' writing to determine areas of need as well. When evaluating, Extension leadership should consider the contextual differences and needs between each form of writing to appropriately assess their employees. Similarly, specific expectations towards writing and necessary writing competencies should be shared with agents so that they can respond accordingly.

Summary

State Extension directors and other Extension leadership identified genres of writing in Extension and the necessary competencies within them. These experts considered each form of writing separately and showed that they considered the contextual differences between each and

103

changed their expectations in response. Extension agents were asked to consider which genres of writing they engage in; participating agents reported that they engage in several forms of writing. *Internal communications* and *social media* were among the highest reported genres of writing that agents produce content for. Extension agents in Alabama also assessed themselves and shared their perceived effectiveness in each relevant writing genre and the competencies within that genre. As a whole, participants perceive themselves to be very effective in their writing within every genre of writing that was identified. *Social media* was reported as a form of writing that the majority of agents engage in, and it was also the writing genre that received the lowest average of effectiveness. Alabama Extension agents might benefit from more training that focuses specifically on writing for social media.

REFERENCES

- Adams, R. G., Jr., Harrell, R. M., Maddy, D. J., Weigel, D. (2005). A diversified portfolio of scholarship: The making of a successful extension educator. *Journal of Extension*, 43(4), 4COM2. https://archives.joe.org/joe/2005august/comm2.php
- Albritton, M. C., & Roberts, T. G. (2020). Agricultural technical skills needed by entry level agriculture teachers: A modified Delphi study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 61(1), 140–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2020.01140</u>
- Alharthi, S. (2021). From instructed writing to free-writing: A study of EFL learners. *Sage Open, 11*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211007112</u>
- AgCareers.com. (n.d.). Career profile: Extension agent. <u>https://www.agcareers.com/career-profiles/extension-agent.cfm</u>
- Ahrens, C. A., Meyers, C., Irlbeck, E., Burris, S., & Roach, D. (2016). Exploring agricultural communications students' perceptions of communication apprehension and writing apprehension in the classroom. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 57(2), 119–133. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2016.02119
- Argabright, K. J., Davis, G. A., Torppa, C. B., King, J., Scheer, S. D., & Stollar, M. K. (2019). developing and supporting the future extension professional. *The Journal of Extension*, 57(4), Article 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.57.04.21</u>
- Arnold, S., Hill, A., Bailey, N., & Meyers, C. (2012). Extension's online presence: Are land-grant universities promoting the tripartite mission?. *The Journal of Extension*, 50(6), Article 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.50.06.17</u>
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Prentice Hall.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Freeman.

- Banks, D. (2017). The extent to which the passive voice is used in the scientific journal article, 1985–2015. *Functional Linguist*, *4*(12). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40554-017-0045-5
- Banwart, H. M., & Qu, S. (2023). Developing writing self-efficacy: Perspectives from agricultural communications students. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 107(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2427</u>
- Barrick, R. K. (1989). Agricultural education: Building upon our roots. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 30(4), 24–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.1989.04024</u>
- Barry, D., & Easterly III, R. G. (2021). Comparing the self-efficacy of Florida school-based agricultural education teachers delivering online and in-person instruction. *Advancements in Agricultural Development*, 2(2), 15–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.37433/aad.v2i2.109</u>
- Battel, R. D. (2005). Reaching farmers--In the combine. *Journal of Extension*, 43(3). https://archives.joe.org/joe/2005june/tt2.php
- Baughman, S., Arnold, M., Boyd, H. H., & Franz, N. K. (2010). Evaluating for impact:
 professional development educational content delivery through learning communities.
 The Journal of Extension, 48(3), Article 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.48.03.26</u>
- Bazerman, C. (2015). A genre based theory of literate action. In N. Artemeva and A. Freedman (Eds.), *Genre studies around the globe* (pp. 80-94). Trafford Publishing.
 <u>https://bazerman.education.ucsb.edu/sites/default/files/docs/Bazerman2015ChapGenreBa</u>
 <u>sedTheoryNarrative.pdf</u>

- Beattie, P. N., Benge, M., Telg, R. W., & Lundy, L. K. (2022). Assessing Florida early career extension faculty's adoption of design principles to communicate messages. *Journal of Applied Communications, 106*(3), Article 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2425</u>
- Beck, H., & Cilley, M. L. (1994). Change and the agricultural communicator: Electronic dissemination of extension information. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 78(1). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1393
- Benge, M., Harder, A., & Carter, H. (2011). Necessary pre-entry competencies as perceived by Florida extension agents. *The Journal of Extension*, 49(5), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.49.05.03
- Benge, M., Muscato, A. F., & Beattie, P. N. (2020). Professional development needs of earlycareer extension agents beyond the first year: Florida county extension director perspectives. *The Journal of Extension*, 58(6), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.58.06.11
- Bettis, J., Sr. (2012). On reviewing and writing a scholarly article. *The Journal of Extension*, 50(1), Article 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.50.01.27</u>
- Boone, K., Meisenbach, T., & Tucker, M. (2000). *Agricultural communications: Changes and challenges*. Iowa State University Press.

Bulut, A. (2017). Improving 4th grade primary school students' reading comprehension skills. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 4(1) 23-30. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1124667.pdf

Buriak, P., & Shinn, G. C. (1989). Mission, initiatives, and obstacles to research in agricultural education: A national Delphi using external decision-makers. *Journal of Agricultural Education, 30*(4), 14-23. Busse, V., Graham, S., Müller, N., & Utesch, T. (2023). Understanding the interplay between text quality, writing self-efficacy and writing anxiety in learners with and without migration background. *Frontier Psychology*, 14(1130149).

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1130149

- Brune, S., Stevenson, K. T., Knollenberg, W., & Barbieri, C. (2020). Development and validation of a children's agricultural literacy instrument for local food. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 61(3), 233–260. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2020.0300233
- Cannon, K. J., Specht, A. R., & Buck, E. B. (2016). Agricultural communications: A national portrait of undergraduate courses. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 100(1). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1018
- Cartmell, D. D., & Evans, J. F. (2013). Understanding whence we came: Role of the Association for Communication Excellence in the development of agricultural communications during the past century—and future implications. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 97(2), 50–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1120</u>
- Center for Plain Language. (2017). What is readability and why should content editors care about it? *Centerforplainlanuage.org*. <u>https://centerforplainlanuage.org/what-is-readability/</u>
- Chaikovska, O., Humeniuk, I., & Trofymenko, A. (2023). Development of prospective agricultural engineers' technical writing skills using online writing lab. *Advanced Education*, 11(23), 42–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.20535/2410-8286.274944</u>
- Clemons, C., Lindner, J. R., Murray, B., Cook, M. P., Sams, B., & Williams, G. (2018). Spanning the gap: The confluence of agricultural literacy and being agriculturally literate. *Journal* of Agricultural Education, 59(4), 238–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2018.04238</u>

Cletzer, D. A., Avery, K., & Hasselquist, L. (2022). Supporting students in the writing intensive classroom: Insight on reducing writing apprehension. *NACTA Journal*, 66(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.56103/nactaj.v66i1.11</u>

College Board. (n. d.). SAT suite of assessments: Benchmarks.

https://satsuite.collegeboard.org/k12-educators/about/understand-scoresbenchmarks/benchmarks

- College Board. (2021). College Board will no longer offer SAT Subject Tests or SAT with essay. https://blog.collegeboard.org/January-2021-sat-subject-test-and-essay-faq
- Collins, S. H., & Tuttle, F. B., Jr. (1979). *Technical and scientific writing*. National Education Association.
- The Conference Board. (2006). Are they really ready to work? Employers' perspectives on the basic knowledge and applied skills of new entrants to the 21st century U.S. workforce. *Partnership for 21st Century Skills*. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED519465.pdf</u>
- Conner, N. W., Roberts, G., & Harder, A. (2013). Competencies and experiences needed by entry level international agricultural development practitioners. *Journal of International Agricultural and Extension Education, 20*(1), 19-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/2831-5960.1243</u>
- Corder, J., & Irlbeck, E. (2018). Agricultural communications skills, abilities and knowledge desired by employers compared to current curriculum: A literary review. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 59(4), 177–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2018.04177</u>
- Crone, J. (2011). Publications highlight science communication research for busy professionals. *The Journal of Extension, 49*(5), Article 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.49.05.24</u>

- Dale, C., Robinson, J. S., & Edwards, M. C. (2017). An assessment of the agricultural literacy of incoming freshman at a land-grant university. *NACTA Journal*, 61(1), 7-13.
- Dalkey, N., & Helmer, O. (1963). An experimental application of the Delphi method to the use of experts. *Management Science*, *9*(3), 458-467.
- Daly, J. A., & Miller, M. D. (1975). Apprehension of writing as a predictor of message intensity. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 89(2), 175–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1975.9915748
- Deane, P., Odendahl, T., Fowles, M., Welsh, C., & Bivens-Tatum, J. (2008). Cognitive models of writing: Writing proficiency as a complex integrated skill. Educational Testing Service (ETS) Research Report.
- Delbecq, A. L., Van de Ven, A. H., & Gustafson, D. H. (1975). *Group techniques for program planning: A guide to nominal group and Delphi processes.* Scott, Foresman.
- Diaz, J. M., Gusto, C., Jayaratne, K., Narine, L., Silvert, C., Suarez, C., & Wille, C. (2023). Intercultural competency development model for extension professionals: Expert consensus using the Delphi technique. *The Journal of Extension*, 61(3), Article 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.61.03.02</u>
- Dillman, D. A. (2007). Mail and internet surveys: The tailored design method (2nd ed.). JohnWiley & Sons Inc.
- Doerfert, D. & Cepica, M. (1991). The current status of agricultural communications/journalism programs in the United States. Center for Agricultural Technology Transfer (CATT), Texas Tech University, Lubbock.

- Doerfert, D. L., & Miller, R. P. (2006). What are agriculture industry professionals trying to tell us? Implications for university-level agricultural communications curricula. *Journal of Applied Communications, 90*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1273</u>
- Doheny, K. (2020). *When a worker's grammar and spelling are embarrassing*. Society for Human Resource Management. <u>https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hr-</u> <u>topics/people-managers/pages/poor-grammar-and-spelling-.aspx</u>
- Duke, A. M. (2020). Collaboratively writing extension publications for the public. *The Journal of Extension*, 58(5), Article 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.58.05.09</u>
- Edge, B., Velandia, M., Lambert, D. M., Roberts, R., K., Larson, J. A., English, B. C., Boyer, C.,
 Rejesus, R., & Mishra, A. (2017). Changes in the use of precision farming information
 sources among cotton farmers and implications for extension. *Journal of Extension*,
 55(2), Research in Brief. <u>https://archives.joe.org/joe/2017april/rb2.php</u>
- Ehret, M. R., & Kiernan, N. E. (2008). How to ascertain the impact of writing a newspaper column. *The Journal of Extension*, *46*(3), Article 9.
- Elgin, S. H. (1976). Why "Newsweek" can't tell us why Johnny can't write. *The English Journal*, 65(8), 29-35. https://doi.org/10.2307/815562
- Elliott-Engel, J., Westfall-Rudd, D., Seibel, M., Kaufman, E., & Radhakrishna, R. (2021).
 Extension administrators' perspectives on employee competencies and characteristics.
 The Journal of Extension, 59(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.59.03.03
- Erickson, B., Fausti, S. W., Clay, D., & Clay, S. (2018). Knowledge, skills, and abilities in the Precision agriculture workforce: An industry survey. *Agronomy, Horticulture and Plant Science Faculty Publications*, 47(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.4195/nse2018.04.0010</u>

- Ferree, R. (2015). Facebook groups improve volunteer communications. *The Journal of Extension*, 53(1), Article 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.53.01.13</u>
- Fischer, L. M., & Meyers, C. A. (2017). Determining change in students' writing apprehension scores in a writing intensive course: A pre-test, post-test design. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 58(1), 69–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2017.01069</u>
- Fischer, L. M., Meyers, C. A., & Dobelbower, S. E. (2017). Exploring how pedagogical strategies change student perceptions of writing apprehension. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 58(4), 254–268. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2017.04254</u>
- Flower, L. (1994). *The construction of negotiated meaning: A social cognitive theory of writing*. Southern Illinois University Press.
- Freeling, B. S., Doubleday, Z. A., Dry, M. J., Semmler, C., & Connell, S. D. (2021). Better writing in scientific publications builds reader confidence and understanding. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.714321</u>
- Fox, J. M., Ruemenapp, M. A., Proden, P., Gaolach, B. (2017). A national framework for urban extension. *Journal of Extension*, 55(5). <u>https://archives.joe.org/joe/2017october/a2.php</u>
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory. Aldine.
- Goldstein, D. (2017). Why kids can't write. *The New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/02/education/edlife/writing-education-grammar-students-children.html</u>
- Gordon, J. C. (2003). Transformative explanations: Writing to overcome counterintuitive ideas. *The Journal of Extension*, 41(5), Article 18. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol41/iss5/18

- Granberry, T., Roberts, R., & Blackburn, J. J. (2022). "A challenge that I'm willing to take on:"
 The self-efficacy of female undergraduate students in agricultural mechanics. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 63(3), 44–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2022.03044</u>
- Gross, A., Hamlin, A., Merck, B., Rubio, C., Naas, J., Savage, M., & DeSilva, M. (2017). *Technical writing*. Open Oregan Educational Resources. <u>https://openoregon.pressbooks.pub/technicalwriting/</u>
- Harder, A., Lamm, A. J., & Strong, R. (2009). An analysis of the priority needs of cooperative extension at the county level. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 50(3), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2009.03011
- Harder, A., & Narine, L. K. (2019). Interpersonal leadership competencies of extension agents in Florida. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 60(1), 224–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2019.01224</u>
- Harder, A., Place, N. T., & Scheer, S. D. (2010). Towards a competency–based extension education curriculum: A Delphi study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(3), 44–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2010.03044</u>
- Harder, A., Roberts, G., & Lindner, J. R. (2021). Commonly accepted theories, models, and philosophies: The subjective norms of our discipline. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 62(1), 196–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2021.01196</u>
- Hariot, T. (1588). A brief and true report of the new found land of Virginia. Electronic Texts in American Studies. 20. <u>https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/etas/20</u>
- Hart Research Associates. (2013). It takes more than a major: Employer priorities for college learning and student success. The Association of American Colleges and Universities.

https://dgmg81phhvh63.cloudfront.net/content/user-

photos/Research/PDFs/2013 EmployerSurvey.pdf

- Herren, R. V., & Hillison, J. (1996). Agricultural education and the 1862 land-grant institutions: The rest of the story. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(3), 26–32. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.1996.03026
- Herren, R. V., & Edwards, M. C. (2002). Whence we came: The land-grant tradition—origin, evolution, and implications for the 21st century. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 43(4), 88–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2002.04088</u>
- Hickman, T., & Stoica, M. (2023). Employer's perception of new hires: What determines their overall satisfaction with recent graduates? *Journal of Research in Business Education*, 63(1), 6-23. <u>https://jrbe.nbea.org/index.php/jrbe/article/view/92</u>
- Hsu, C. and Sandford, B. (2007) The Delphi technique: Making sense of consensus. *Practical* Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 12, 1-8.
- Irani, T., & Doerfert, D. L. (2013) Preparing for the next 150 years of agricultural communications. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 97(2).

https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1109

- Irlbeck, E.G., & Akers, C.L. (2009). Perceptions of recent agricultural communications graduates' workplace habits and communications skills. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 50(4), 63-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2009.04063</u>
- Johnson, E. C., & Satish, V. (1992). The Readability of written mass mailing material produced at the county level of the Alabama cooperative extension service. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 76(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1474</u>

- Jones, K. R. (2022). Towards a more effective leader: Planning for the next extension administrator. *The Journal of Extension*, 60(2), Article 16. https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.60.02.16
- Kelly, S., & Gaytan, J. (2020). The effect of instructors' immediate behaviors and clarity on student writing apprehension. *Business and Professional Communication Quarterly*, 83(1), 96-109. <u>https://journals-sagepub-</u>

com.spot.lib.auburn.edu/doi/pdf/10.1177/2329490619868822

- Kerr, N. A. (1987). *The legacy: A centennial history of the state agricultural experiment stations 1887-1987*. Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station.
- Kindenberg, B. (2021). Fixed and flexible, correct and wise: A case of genre-based content-area writing. *Linguistics and Education, 64*, 100938.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.linged.2021.100938

Klare, G. R. (1963). The measurement of readability. University of Iowa Press.

- Kleckner, M. J., & Butz, N. (2020). Addressing undergraduate skill gaps in higher education:
 Revisiting communication in the major course outcomes. *Journal of Education for Business.* 96(7). https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2020.1844119
- Kleckner, M. J., & Marshall, C. R. (2023). Critical communication skills: Developing course competencies to meet workforce needs. *Journal of Research in Business Education*, 56(2), 59–81. <u>https://jrbe.nbea.org/index.php/jrbe/article/view/47</u>
- Knowles, M. S. (1950). *Informal adult education: A guide for administrators, leaders, and teachers*. Association Press.

- Kuehne, L. M., & Olden, J. D. (2015). Opinion: Lay summaries needed to enhance science communication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 112(12), 3585-3586.
- Lamm, A. J., Lundy, L. K., Warner, L., & Lamm, K. W. (2016). Associating importance with behavior: Providing direction for water conservation communication. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 100(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1229</u>
- Lamm, K. W., Randall, N., & Sapp, L. R. (2021). Extension organizational strengths: A Delphi analysis. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 62(2), 53–65. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2021.0253
- Lawson, C., Whitaker, W., & Meyers, C. (2021). Analyzing changes in students' media writing self-perceptions during a writing-intensive course. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 105(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2398</u>
- Lindner, J. R. (2002). Handling of nonresponse error in the Journal of International Agricultural and Extension Education. *Journal of International Agricultural and Extension Education*, *9*(3), 55-60.
- Lindner, J. R., Harder, A., & Roberts, T. G. (2020). Elevating the impacts of research in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 61(2), 249–262. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2020.02249
- Lindner, J. R., & Lindner, N. (2024). Interpreting Likert type, summated, unidimensional, and attitudinal scales: I neither agree nor disagree, Likert or not. *Advancements in Agricultural Development*, 5(2), 152–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.37433/aad.v5i2.351</u>
- Lindner, J. R., Murphy, T. H., & Briers, G. E. (2001). Handling nonresponse in social research. Journal of Agricultural Education, 42(4), 43–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2001.04043</u>

Lindsay, D. (2011). Scientific writing: Thinking in words. CSIRO Publishing. https://ebookcentral-proquest-

com.spot.lib.auburn.edu/lib/auburn/detail.action?docID=656453

- Leal, A., Lawson, K. M., Telg, R. W., Rumble, J. N., Perez Stedman, N. L. & Treise, D. (2020). Technically speaking: Technical skills needed for agricultural communication baccalaureate graduates. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 104(3). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2339
- Leggette, H. R., & Homeyer, M. (2015). Understanding students' experiences in writing-intensive courses. *NACTA Journal*, *59*(2), 116–121. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/nactajournal.59.2.116</u>
- Leggette, H. R., Rutherford, T., Dunsford, D., & Costello, L. (2015). A review and evaluation of prominent theories of writing. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 99(3). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1056
- Leggette, H. R., Jarvis, H., & Walther, D. (2016). Developing writing identity in an advanced agricultural communications media writing course. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 99(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1041</u>
- Leggette, H., Norris-Parish, S., & Parrella, J. (2024). Editor meetings: A pathway to advancing students' media writing skills. *NACTA Journal*, 67(TT). https://doi.org/10.56103/nactaj.v67iTT.155

Lundy, L., Aenlle, J., & Rumble, J. (2022). Introduction to agricultural and natural resources communications. In R. W. Telg, T. Irani, K. Kent, L. Lundy (Eds.), *Agricultural and natural resources communications*. <u>https://anrcommunications.org/</u>

- Lundy, L., Ruth, A., Telg, R. W., & Irani, T. (2006). It takes two: Public understanding of agricultural science and agricultural scientists' understanding of the public. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 90(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1290</u>
- Marks, J. J. (1985). About science writing. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 68(4). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1664
- Mars, M. M., & Ball, A. L. (2016). Ways of knowing, sharing, and translating agricultural knowledge and perspectives: Alternative epistemologies across non-formal and informal settings. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 57(1), 56–72. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2016.01056

McKibben, J. D., Hyjeck, A., Clemons, C. A., Hancock, G. T., & Yopp, A. (2024). Serving in agriculture: Increasing agriculture students' self-efficacy through service-learning.

NACTA Journal, 67(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.56103/nactaj.v67i1.136</u>

- McLeod-Morin, A., Telg, R. W., & Rumble, J. (2020). Describing interdisciplinary agricultural research center directors' perceptions of science communication through goals and beliefs. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 104(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-</u> 0834.2300
- Miller, J. D., Large, M. M., Rucker, K. J., Shoulders, K., & Buck, E. B. (2015). Characteristics of U.S. agricultural communications undergraduate programs. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 99(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1063</u>
- Miller, J. E. (2001). How to write low literacy materials. *Journal of Extension*, 39(1), Article 13. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol39/iss1/13

- Mills, R., Hill, P. A., & Saunders, K. (2016). Finding the motivation, time, personal techniques, and confidence to write. *The Journal of Extension*, 54(1), Article 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.54.01.27</u>
- Moore, L. L., & Rudd, R. D. (2004). Leadership skills and competencies for extension directors and administrators. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 45(3), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2004.03022
- Morgan, A. C. (2010). Competencies needed by agricultural communication graduates: An industry perspective. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 94(1). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1184
- Morgan, A. C., & Rucker, K. J. (2013). Competencies needed by agricultural communication undergraduates: An academic perspective. *Journal of Applied Communication*, 97(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1103</u>
- National Assessment of Adult Literacy. (2003). *Definition of literacy*. National Center for Education Statistics. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/naal/index.asp</u>
- National Assessment Governing Board. (2010). Writing framework for the 2011 national assessment of educational progress. U.S. Department of Education.

https://www.nagb.gov/content/dam/nagb/en/documents/publications/frameworks/writing/

2011-writing-framework.pdf

The National Association of Colleges and Employers. (2019). Job outlook 2019.

https://ww1.odu.edu/content/dam/odu/offices/cmc/docs/nace/2019-nace-job-outlooksurvey.pdf

National Center for Education Statistics. (2023). Number, percentage distribution, and SAT mean scores of high school seniors taking the SAT, by sex, race/ethnicity, first language

learned, and highest level of parental education: Selected years, 2017 through 2022. In *Digest of education statistics*. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d22/tables/dt22_226.10.asp</u>.

- National Commission on Writing. (2003). *The neglected "R": The need for a writing revolution*. College Board. <u>https://archive.nwp.org/cs/public/download/nwp_file/21478/the-neglected-r-college-board-nwp-report.pdf?x-r=pcfile_d</u>
- National Commission on Writing. (2003). *Writing: A ticket to work...or a ticket out*. College Board. <u>https://archive.nwp.org/cs/public/download/nwp_file/21479/writing-ticket-to-work.pdf?x-r=pcfile_d</u>
- National Institute of Food and Agriculture. (n.d.). *Extension*. United States Department of Agriculture. <u>https://www.nifa.usda.gov/about-nifa/how-we-work/extension</u>
- Nordby, A. (2014). Using Twitter to deliver 4-H show announcements. *The Journal of Extension*, 52(3), Article 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.52.03.10</u>
- Park, J. (2020). Benefits of freewriting in an EFL academic writing classroom. *ELT Journal*, 74(3), 318–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/elt/ccaa018</u>
- Pinker, S. (2014). Sense of style: The thinking person's guide to writing in the 21st century. Penguin Group.
- Ramaswamy, S. (2017). Forward. In J. Eise and W. Hodde (Eds.) *The Communication Scarcity in Agriculture*. Routledge.
- Ray, B. (2015). *Style: An introduction to history, theory, research, and pedagogy*. Parlor Press & The WAC Clearinghouse. <u>https://wac.colostate.edu/books/referenceguides/style/</u>
- Robinson, P. (2013). Effectively communicating science to extension audiences. *The Journal of Extension*, 51(2), Article 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.51.02.02</u>

- Rockers, A., & Rumble, J. N. (2023). Agricultural communication students' media writing selfperception in an introductory course. *NACTA Journal*, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.56103/nactaj.v67i1.62
- Rotherham, A. J. (2016). Written off: American students have a writing problem, but it's the system that's to blame. U.S. News. <u>https://www.usnews.com/opinion/articles/2016-09-01/the-fundamental-reason-american-students-arent-good-writers</u>
- Rotz, S., & Fraser, E. D. G. (2015). Resilience and the industrial food system: Analyzing the impacts of agricultural industrialization on food system vulnerability. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 5(3), 459–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-015-0277-1</u>
- Ruth, T. K., & Emmert, J. L. (2019). Understanding how students' beliefs influence their expectancy to possess effective writing skills in the future. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 60(4), 181–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2019.04181</u>
- Ruth, T. K., Young, L. E., Rumble, J. N., & Lundy, L. K. (2021). Agricultural scientists' perceptions of working with reporters. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 105(3). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2400
- Sandlin, M. R., & Perez, K. (2017). Evaluation of an annual community-focused agricultural literacy event. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 58(3), 293–309. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2017.03293
- Sarathchandra, D., & Maredia, K. M. (2014). An international short course for training professionals as effective science communicators. *The Journal of Extension*, 52(5), Article 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.52.05.08</u>

- Scanlon, D. C., & Baxter, C. A. (1993). An examination of "on-the-job" writing of recent college of agricultural sciences graduates. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 77(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1448</u>
- Schartel Dunn, S. G., & Lane, P. L. (2019). Do interns know what they think they know?
 Assessing business communication skills in interns and recent graduates. *Business and Professional Communication Quarterly*, 82(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/23294906198262

Sheils, M. (1975). Why Johnny can't write. *Newsweek*. <u>https://www.leetorda.com/uploads/2/3/2/5/23256940/why_johnny_cant_write__newswee</u> k 1975 1 .pdf

- Sheehan, C. Z., & Moore, L. L. (2019). Teacher self-efficacy in SBAE methods coursework: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 60(3), 219–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2019.03219</u>
- Sprecker, K. J., & Rudd, R. D. (1998). Opinions of practitioners concerning curricular requirements of agricultural communication students at the University of Florida. *Journal* of Applied Communications, 82(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2125</u>
- Stevens, B. (2011). What communication skills do employers want? Silicon Valley recruiters respond. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 42(1), 209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2005.tb00893.x</u>
- Stofer, K. A., & Newberry, M. G. (2017). When defining agriculture and science, explicit is not a bad word. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 58(1), 131-150. <u>https://jaeonline.org/index.php/jae/article/view/444</u>

- Stone, B., & Coppernoll, S. (2004). You, extension and success: A competency-based professional development system. *The Journal of Extension*, 42(2), Article 20. <u>https://archives.joe.org/joe/2004april/iw1.php</u>
- Strong, E., Rowntree, J., Thurlow, K., & Raven, M. R. (2015). The case for a paradigm shift in extension from information-centric to community-centric programming. *The Journal of Extension*, 53(4), Article 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.53.04.08</u>
- Terry, B. D., & Osborne, E. (2015). Fundamental dimensions and essential elements of exemplary local extension units. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 56(2), 43–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2015.02043</u>
- Teuteberg, D., Martinez, A. D., Crawford, J., Hrncirik, L., Overath, R., & Betz, D. L. (2016).
 Collaborative writing as a scholarship activity: A framework for extension faculty. *The Journal of Extension*, 54(6), Article 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.54.06.17</u>
- Torock, J. L. (2009). Experiential learning and cooperative extension: partners in non-formal education for a century and beyond. *The Journal of Extension, 47*(6), Article 24. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol47/iss6/24
- True, A. C. (1929). A history of agricultural education in the United States 1785-1925. United States Department of Agriculture.
- Tschetter, E., & Freeman, G. (2019). *Writing for extension audiences*. Alabama Cooperative Extension System.
- Tucker, M., Whaley, S. R., & Cano, J. (2003). Agricultural education and agricultural communications: Striking a proper balance in the academy. *Journal of Agricultural Education, 44*(1), 22-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2003.01022</u>

- Tylczak, L., Andow, D., Borgida, E., & Hurley, T. (2015). Design clarity in public outreach documents: A guidebook for a first detector volunteer network. *The Journal of Extension*, 53(2), Article 29. <u>https://doi.org/10.34068/joe.53.02.29</u>
- Upchurch, J. W., Jr. (1969). *Readability of newspaper articles written by county agricultural extension agents* (Report No. R-9). North Carolina State University, Dept. of Agricultural Information. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED052415.pdf</u>

University of Maryland Extension. (n.d.). *Program and organizational development*. <u>https://extension.umd.edu/about/program-and-organizational-development/</u>

- Vallera, F. L., & Bodzin, A. M. (2016). Knowledge, skills, or attitudes/beliefs: The contexts of agricultural literacy in upper-elementary science curricula. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 57(4), 101–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2016.04101</u>
- Yousuf, M. I. (2007). Using experts' opinions through Delphi technique. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 12*(4), 1-8.
- Wales, L. H., & Ashman, M. G. (1978). What is technical writing style today?. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 61(3). https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1903
- Ward, B. C., Drake, D., & Londo, A. (2009). Extension: A modern-day pony express?. The Journal of Extension, 47(2), Article 10. <u>https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol47/iss2/10</u>
- Warner, L. A., Stubbs, E., Murphrey, T. P., & Huynh, P. (2016). Identification of the competencies needed to apply social marketing to extension programming: Results of a Delphi study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 57(2), 14–32.

https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2016.02014

Wells, T., Solomonson, J., Hainline, M., Rank, B., Wilson, M., Rinker, S., & Chumbley, S.(2023). Technical agriculture skills teachers need to teach courses in the animal systems

pathway. Journal of Agricultural Education, 64(3), 158–175.

https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.v64i3.117

- Wexler, N. (2015). Why Americans can't write. Washington Post.
 <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/why-americans-cant-</u>
 write/2015/09/24/6e7f420a-6088-11e5-9757-e49273f05f65_story.html
- Wirth, A. G. (1972). John Dewey's philosophical opposition to Smith-Hughes type vocational education. *Educational Theory*, 22(1), 69-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-5446.1972.tb00545.x</u>
- Wyss, E., & Cletzer, A. (2023). Agricultural communications practitioners' perspectives on skills and competencies graduates need to be career ready: A mixed methods study with implications for undergraduate programs. *Journal of Applied Communications, 107*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.2471</u>

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Extension Writing Delphi Questionnaire: Round 1

Hello! We would like to invite you as an expert in the field of Extension to participate in the Delphi process. I am Clare Hancock, a graduate student in Agricultural Communication, under the supervision of Jason McKibben, an Assistant Professor in the Department of Curriculum and Teaching at Auburn University. The objective of this study is to determine core competency areas of Extension Agents when it comes to written communication. Since Extension Agents engage in many different writing genres for different audiences, we are attempting to understand what is expected of Extension Agents' writing skills. You may participate if you are a member of the Association of Southern Region Extension Directors or recommended to participate by a state director, employed by the Extension Cooperative System, and are 18 or older.

As a successful leader in Extension, we look to you as the expert in what it takes to be a "good" Extension faculty member and hope to be able to use that knowledge to better Extension and the Extension mission. You are one of a small handful of professionals that have been identified and whose input is invaluable to this work. We are very grateful for your time and contribution, and we have arranged the following questionnaires to be quick and to-the-point.

If you decide to participate, round one will ask open-ended questions about what expectations you have for your agents' writing, round two will allow you to see yours and others' expectations and rate them by level of importance, and round three will ask for a final rating, which will finalize the expectations. Each round should take no more than 10 minutes of your time and there will be several days or weeks between the rounds, so the time burden will be minimal there as well. Your total time commitment should be no more than 30 minutes overall, across the three rounds of questions. Your participation is completely voluntary, and should you wish to not participate or withdraw at any time in the process, it will be with no hard feelings or ill will.

You can contact Clare Hancock (cet0071@auburn.edu) or Jason McKibben (jdm0184@auburn.edu) to withdraw, and your data will also be withdrawn. There are no risks or discomforts accompanying this study, you will not be compensated or incur costs, and you will not directly benefit from this research. However, your contributions will help determine a more solidified understanding of Extension writing and the expectations surrounding that, which will hopefully lead to opportunities for professional development.

The study findings will only report grouped results, and your individual participation will not be shared so feel free to be honest. Responses will be stored in a secure folder in Box protected by a two-factor authentication. Information collected through your participation may be used to fulfill an educational requirement, published in a professional journal, and/or presented at a professional conference.

If you wish to participate in this study, please indicate your consent below. We look forward to learning from your hard-won expertise and guidance.

Clare Hancock, Ph.D. Candidate Agricultural Communications Agricultural Education, Auburn University Jason McKibben, Ph.D. Assistant Professor Agricultural Education, Auburn University

• I will participate

• I will not participate

Which state extension system do you currently work? Please select your state from the dropdown box.

▼ Alabama... Virginia

Which land grant system do you primarily align with?

- o 1862
- o 1890
- o 1994
- o Non-land grant

How many years have you been employed with Extension?

- o **0-5**
- o 6-10
- o 11-15
- o 16-20
- o 21-25
- More than 25

Do you directly evaluate extension personnel?

- County support staff
- Professional support staff
- County-based agents
- Regional agents
- County coordinator
- o Specialists
- Extension faculty
- Administrators/Directors/Deans

How many years have you been in your current position?

- o 0-5
- o 6-10
- o 11-15
- o 16-20
- o 21-25
- More than 25

What genres of writing do County Extension Agents engage in? (Select all that apply.)

- Social Media Posts
- Program Materials
- Newspaper articles/Newsletters
- Guides/Manuals/Instructions
- Technical Publications/White Paper
- Journal Articles
- Internal Communications
- o Other _____

Out of these types of writing, what would you say is the most important for County Extension Agents to devote time to? Please rank the following, with 1 being the most important and 6 being the least.

- _____ Social Media Posts
- Program Materials
- _____ Newspaper article/Newsletters
- _____ Technical Publications/White Paper
- _____ Journal Articles
- _____ Internal Communications

For **social media**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. audience awareness, modern word usage/slang, relevance, etc...)

For **program/workshop materials**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. technical terms, objective writing, etc...)

For **newspaper articles**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. knowledge of AP style, plain language use, etc...)

For **guides/manuals/instructions**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. clarity, formatting, writing concisely, etc...)

For **technical publications/white paper**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. Formatting, charts and tables, technical language, etc...)

For **journal articles**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. ethical source use, knowledge of APA style, clarity, etc...)

Question 14 For **internal communications**, what skills are needed for your County Extension Agents to be successful in writing? (e.g. clarity, etiquette, relevancy, concise language, etc...)



In the Extension profession, what general abilities does a "good writer" possess?

If there is someone else in your organization that would have value to add to this research discussion, please add their name and email:

APPENDIX B

Extension Writing Delphi Questionnaire: Round 2

Hello! This is Round 2 of Expected Writing Competencies of Extension Agents. Thank you for your continued participation in this project; your insight and experiences are greatly valued.

If you have any questions about the study or how your answers will be used, please contact Clare Hancock (cet0071@auburn.edu) or Jason McKibben (jdm0184@auburn.edu).

Note: The next section of questions has compiled all of the answers that were given from all of the participants in Round 1, and duplicate items have been taken out.

In this round you will be asked to tell us how much you agree or disagree with the skill being important for a county-based agent. You will see seven different types of writing (social media, program/workshop, guides, etc.) and asked about skills in each. You will see the same or similar skills in each genre. For some shared skills, your answers might be different based on the genre.

For the following questions, please answer to the best of your ability, even if your state's countybased agents do not engage in this genre of writing.

Please add your university/Extension email below for verification:

Social Media

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	Ν	Α	SA
Identify and understand target audience	0	0	0	0	0
Identify relevance to audience	0	0	0	0	0
Select words that are appropriate, modern, creative	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to accessibility requirements	0	0	0	0	0
Use call to actions	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate with precision	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Define technical terms	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared	0	0	0	0	0
Able to summarize	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation	0	0	0	0	0
Apply marketing knowledge	0	0	0	0	0
Understand platform norms and culture	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

o Yes

Program/Workshop Materials

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Develop engaging content	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0
Organize instructions	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective	0	0	0	0	0
Use creativity to help visualize complex ideas	0	0	0	0	0
Develop program objectives and match objectives to outcomes	0	0	0	0	0
Synthesize research	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

o Yes

• No, why?_____

Newspapers/Online Articles

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Deliver on level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0
Use plain language	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Select action words	0	0	0	0	0
Identify engaging topics	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate	0	0	0	0	0
Use inclusive language	0	0	0	0	0
Use call to actions	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate applicability of content	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared	0	0	0	0	0
Check readability level of text	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	0	0	0	0	0
Determine objective of material	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

- o Yes
- No, why?

Guides/Manuals

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	N	А	SA
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently	0	0	0	0	0
Use plain language	0	0	0	0	0
Create meaningful divisions within text	0	0	0	0	0
Write with a technical point of view	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Define technical terms	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate visual examples	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	0	0	0	0	0
Determine objective of material	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

- o Yes
- No, why?_____

Technical Publications

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Follow organizational formatting guidelines (1)	0	0	0	0	0
Use technical language correctly (22)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (23)	0	0	0	0	0
Utilize and define tables and graphs (24)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand text's audience (25)	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently (26)	0	0	0	0	0
Avoid jargon (27)	0	0	0	0	0
Respect copyright laws (28)	0	0	0	0	0
Proofread for errors (29)	0	0	0	0	0
Use inclusive language (30)	0	0	0	0	0
Use active voice (31)	0	0	0	0	0
Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.) (32)	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to peer review requirements (33)	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter (34)	0	0	0	0	0
Use descriptive writing (35)	0	0	0	0	0
Pay attention to cohesion and flow (36)	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work (37)	0	0	0	0	0
Cite sources	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

- o Yes
- No, why?

Journal Articles

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Use technical language correctly	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Use sources ethically	0	0	0	0	0
Address a need or issue	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate purpose	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate applicability of content	0	0	0	0	0
Respect copyright laws	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Synthesize research	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Able to write abstractly	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work	0	0	0	0	0
Proofread for errors	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate tone	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

- o Yes
- No, why?_____

Internal Communications

Please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre.

	SD	D	Ν	Α	SA
Determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Utilize etiquette	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Determine if message is necessary	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate purpose	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Provide context	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate tone	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0

Are there any skills that need to be added to this list?

Is this genre applicable to the work of your county-based agents?

o Yes

• No, why? _____

APPENDIX C

Extension Writing Study Delphi: Round 3

Hello! This is Round 3 of Expected Writing Competencies of Extension Agents. Thank you for your continued participation in this project; your insight and experiences are greatly valued.

If you have any questions about the study or how your answers will be used, please contact Clare Hancock (cet0071@auburn.edu) or Jason McKibben (jdm0184@auburn.edu).

Round 3 consists of the same identified skills from Round 1 and Round 2, but there were some additional items identified as a result of Round 2. This final round will solidify consensus on the skills.

As such, the structure and questions are similar to Round 2 in that you will be asked one more time to tell us how much you agree or disagree with the skill being important for a county-based agent. You will see seven different types of writing (social media, program/workshop, guides, etc.) and asked about skills in each.

Please add your university/Extension email below for verification:

Social Media

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

If not, please rate your level of agreement (Strongly Disagree – SD, Disagree – D, Neutral – N, Agree – A, Strongly Agree – SA) with the importance of the skill in this genre if you differ from the round two group average.

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Identify and understand target audience (4.9)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling (4.9)	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify relevance to audience (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate with precision (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to accessibility requirements (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Able to summarize (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Select words that are appropriate, modern, creative (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Apply marketing knowledge (4)	0	0	0	0	0
Understand platform norms and culture (4)	0	0	0	0	0
Define technical terms (3.9)	0	0	0	0	0
Use call to actions (3.9)	0	0	0	0	0

The following competencies were added as a result of Round 2. Please rate your level of agreement with the importance of these skills in **Social Media**.

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Deliver on the level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0

Program/Workshop

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Determine that information is accurate (4.9)	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Use creativity to help visualize complex ideas (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Synthesize research (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Organize instructions (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Develop engaging content (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Develop program objectives and match objectives to outcomes (4.1)	0	0	0	0	0

Newspaper/Online Articles

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Use correct punctuation (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Use plain language (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate applicability of content (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify engaging topics (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Determine objective of material (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Use inclusive language (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Check readability level of text (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.) (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Select action words (4.1)	0	0	0	0	0
Use call to actions (3.8)	0	0	0	0	0

Guides/Manuals

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

	SD	D	Ν	А	SA
Write concisely (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Define technical terms (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate visual examples (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Use plain language (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Create meaningful divisions within text (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Determine objective of material (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Write with a technical point of view (4.1)	0	0	0	0	0

Technical Publications

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Proofread for errors (4.9)	0	0	0	0	0
Respect copyright laws (4.8)	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Use technical language correctly (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.) (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Cite sources (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to peer review requirements (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Utilize and define tables and graphs (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Pay attention to cohesion and flow (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Use descriptive writing (4.1)	0	0	0	0	0
Avoid jargon (4.1)	0	0	0	0	0
Use inclusive language (3.9)	0	0	0	0	0

Journal Articles

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

	SD	D	Ν	Α	SA
Respect copyright laws (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Proofread for errors (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Use sources ethically (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in subject matter (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.) (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Use technical language correctly (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate purpose (4.3)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate applicability of content (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate tone (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Address a need or issue (4.1)	0	0	0	0	0
Synthesize research (4.0)	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work (4.0)	0	0	0	0	0

Internal Communications

The average rating of you and your peers in round two is provided in parenthesis after the statement. Do you agree with the average rating (out of 5, with 5 being the most important)?

	SD	D	N	Α	SA
Use appropriate tone (4.7)	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling (4.6)	0	0	0	0	0
Determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.) (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Utilize etiquette (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Determine if message is necessary (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate purpose (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Provide context (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared (4.5)	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules (4.4)	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines (4.2)	0	0	0	0	0

APPENDIX D

Alabama Extension Agent Survey

Hello! I am Clare Hancock, a graduate student in Agricultural Communication, under the supervision of Jason McKibben, an Associate Professor in the Department of Curriculum and Teaching at Auburn University. We ask you to participate in a needs assessment based on information that the state directors and heads of Extension services/systems in the southeast provided to us. You may participate if you are a regional or county Extension agent, employed by the Alabama Extension Cooperative System, and are 18 or older. If you decide to participate, the survey will ask you about how effective you feel in aspects of writing within different contexts (social media, online articles, internal communications, etc.). Your total time commitment should be no more than 10 minutes overall.

The writing skills within the survey were provided by your director/coordinators—the people who perform your evaluations. These questions might seem repetitive, as the information we were provided with was repetitive as well. This assessment will allow us to determine if there are specific contexts or skills that you might want assistance with. We know that you engage in many tasks that demand your attention, and we also know that you likely perform several different types of skills within just one day. A lot is asked of Extension agents, especially since its mission is so important for our communities and future as a country. Thus, our hope is to use this data to design programing to help future and current Extension professionals be more successful—and by default, reach more audiences about agriculture.

Your participation is completely voluntary, and should you wish to not participate or withdraw at any time in the process, it will be with no hard feelings or ill will. You can contact Clare Hancock (cet0071@auburn.edu) or Jason McKibben (jdm0184@auburn.edu) to withdraw, and your data will also be withdrawn. There are no risks or discomforts accompanying this study, you will not be compensated or incur costs, and you will not directly benefit from this research. However, your contributions will help determine a more solidified understanding of Extension writing and the expectations surrounding that, which will hopefully lead to opportunities for professional development.

The study findings will only report grouped results, and your individual participation will not be shared so feel free to be honest. Responses will be stored in a secure folder in Box protected by a two-factor authentication. Information collected through your participation may be used to fulfill an educational requirement, published in a professional journal, and/or presented at a professional conference.

If you wish to participate in this study, please indicate below. Just as you look to your community for their needs, we look to you for yours and are eager to be able to assist.

Clare Hancock, Ph.D. CandidateJason McKibben, Ph.D.Agricultural CommunicationsAssistant ProfessorAgricultural Education, Auburn UniversityAgricultural Education, Auburn University

• I will participate

○ I will not participate

What area of programing are you OFFICIALLY responsible for (we know most of us are wearing LOTS of hats, so pick the areas you are officially responsible for doing)?

- Agriculture, Forestry, & Natural Resources (animal science, poultry, forestry, wildlife, forages, aquaculture, etc...)
- 4-H & Youth Development (Youth focused programing of any kind)
- Human & Family Sciences (nutrition, safety, food safety, SNAP, etc...)
- Economic & Community Development (workforce development, community development, agribusiness management, governments, etc...)

Do you write content for social media? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Social Media

When writing for SOCIAL MEDIA how effective is your ability to do the following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Identify and understand target audience	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared	0	0	0	0	0
Identify relevance to audience	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate with precision	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to accessibility requirements	0	0	0	0	0
Able to summarize	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Select words that are appropriate, modern, creative	0	0	0	0	0
Apply marketing knowledge	0	0	0	0	0
Understand platform norms and culture	0	0	0	0	0
Define technical terms	0	0	0	0	0
Use call to actions	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on the level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0

Do you write content for **programming/workshop materials**? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Programs/Workshops

When writing for PROGRAMING/WORKSHOPS how effective is your ability to do the following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Determine that information is accurate	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0
Use creativity to help visualize complex ideas	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Synthesize research	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Organize instructions	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically	0	0	0	0	0
Develop engaging content	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Develop program objectives and match objectives to outcomes	0	0	0	0	0

Which university do you affiliate most with?

- o Alabama A&M
- o Auburn

Do you write content for **newspapers or online article sources**? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Newspapers/Online Articles

When writing for NEWSPAPER/ONLINE ARTICLES how effective is your ability to do the following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Use correct punctuation	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	0	0	0	0	0
Use plain language	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate applicability of content	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Identify engaging topics	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research	0	0	0	0	0

Determine objective of material	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Select action words	0	0	0	0	0
Use call to actions	0	0	0	0	0

Do you write content for guides or manuals? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Guides/Manuals

When writing for GUIDES/MANUALS how effective is your ability to do following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct punctuation	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Determine that information is accurate	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Deliver on level of the reader	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently	0	0	0	0	0
Define technical terms	0	0	0	0	0
Remain objective	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate paragraph and sentence structure	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate visual examples	0	0	0	0	0

Use plain language	0	0	0	0	0
Create meaningful divisions within text	0	0	0	0	0
Integrate and translate current research	0	0	0	0	0
Determine objective of material	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Write with a technical point of view	0	0	0	0	0

What is your highest level of completed education?

- Doctorate (Ph.D., Ed.D.)
- Educational Specialist (Ed.S.)
- Master's (M.S., M.A., M.Ed.,)
- o Bachelor's (B.A., B.S.)
- o Associates (A.A., A.S., A.A.S, A.A.A)

Do you write content for technical publications? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Technical Publications

When writing for TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS how effective is your ability to do the following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Proofread for errors	0	0	0	0	0
Respect copyright laws	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Use technical language correctly	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Be aware of how material will be presented (digital, paper, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Cite sources	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in technical subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to peer review requirements	0	0	0	0	0
Utilize and define tables and graphs	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work	0	0	0	0	0
Pay attention to cohesion and flow	0	0	0	0	0
Use descriptive writing	0	0	0	0	0
Avoid jargon	0	0	0	0	0

Do you write content for journal articles? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Journal Articles

When writing for JOURNAL ARTICLES how effective is your ability to do the following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Respect copyright laws	0	0	0	0	0
Proofread for errors	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Use sources ethically	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Be knowledgeable in subject matter	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Follow organizational formatting guidelines	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate writing style (AP, APA, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Use technical language correctly	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate purpose	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate applicability of content	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Use appropriate tone	0	0	0	0	0
Address a need or issue	0	0	0	0	0
Synthesize research	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work	0	0	0	0	0

Last one! Do you write when engaging in **internal communications** (emails, memos, etc.)? If not, please skip to the next section.

- o Yes
- o No

Internal Communications

When writing for INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS, how effective is your ability to do the following:

	NE	SE	ME	VE	EE
Use appropriate tone	0	0	0	0	0
Use correct spelling	0	0	0	0	0
Determine appropriate language and format between communication methods (memo, text, email, etc.)	0	0	0	0	0
Write clearly	0	0	0	0	0
Utilize etiquette	0	0	0	0	0
Write concisely	0	0	0	0	0
Organize information logically and consistently	0	0	0	0	0
Identify and understand audience	0	0	0	0	0
Determine if message is necessary	0	0	0	0	0
Communicate purpose	0	0	0	0	0
Provide context	0	0	0	0	0
Consider timeliness of information shared	0	0	0	0	0
Understand grammar rules	0	0	0	0	0
Able to revise work	0	0	0	0	0
Adhere to Extension branding guidelines	0	0	0	0	0

You made it! We know this was repetitive and took time from your day. It's only with your responses that we can better understand what all you do and determine where even more insight might be needed. Thank you for helping us, and if Agricultural Education (Agriscience Education) can do anything to help you, never hesitate to reach out to us.

Information about: Agricultural Education at Auburn University